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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Welcome to this

          3  afternoon's Health Committee hearing. Today we will

          4  be considering two bills, Intro. No. 589 and Intro.

          5  No. 592. Both of these bills deals with regulating

          6  consumer products in an effort to make our City

          7  healthier and safer.

          8                 Intro No. 589 would ban the sale of

          9  toys containing phthalates. Phthalates are a

         10  commonly used chemical compound that enhances a

         11  variety of plastics. Some researchers have conducted

         12  studies that indicate that ingesting phthalates can

         13  be unhealthy, although more study is certainly

         14  needed, it is possible that phthalates cause serious

         15  health problems. Both San Francisco and the European

         16  Union have enacted bans on certain children's

         17  products containing phthalates.

         18                 Intro. 589 would specifically target

         19  classic toys and other child care products, which

         20  are often chewed by young children.

         21                 The other legislation we will be

         22  considering today is Intro. No. 592, which will ban

         23  the sale of medicines containing a drug called

         24  "DXM," which is the acronym for the much larger

         25  name that is very difficult to pronounce,
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          2  Dextromethorphan, to minors. DXM, the active

          3  ingredient in a wide variety of cough medicines and

          4  other over-the-counter pharmaceuticals, can be

          5  easily abused, as you've seen over the recent years,

          6  when ingested in large amounts.

          7                 DXM produces a state of euphoria and

          8  hallucinations similar to LSD. Children throughout

          9  the country have experimented with using cough

         10  medicine to get high. This practice commonly called

         11  "robo tripping" or "skiddling" can have serious

         12  health consequences. Side effects can include

         13  dizziness, nausea and increased heartbeat.

         14                 According to the federal government,

         15  there were over 12,500 DXM related emergency visits

         16  in 2004.

         17                 Today's hearing is a preliminary

         18  inquiry into the issues addressed by these two

         19  pieces of legislation.

         20                 The City Council has a proud and

         21  longstanding tradition of taking proactive and

         22  progressive action to protect the health and

         23  well-being of all New Yorkers. This legislation is a

         24  part of that tradition. And today's hearing will

         25  seek to understand the depth and nature of the
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          2  problems that Intro. No. 592 and 589 seek to

          3  address, and will begin an important conversation in

          4  how we can address these important issues.

          5                 I'm going to introduce my colleagues

          6  who are here today and then open it up for my

          7  colleague, Eric Gioia, who is the prime sponsor for

          8  the phthalates legislation.

          9                 Before he testifies, I want to

         10  introduce my colleagues. We have Council Member

         11  McMahon from Staten Island, Council Member Sears

         12  from Queens, Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo

         13  from the Bronx, and to my left we have Council

         14  Member Eric Gioia who is lead sponsor on the

         15  phthalates legislation and Council Member Inez

         16  Dickens.

         17                 At this point in time I want to open

         18  up the mic to my colleague, Council Member Eric

         19  Gioia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         21  much, Mr. Chair. I'd like to thank you for having

         22  this hearing. I just introduced this bill a few

         23  weeks ago and I very much appreciate the speed with

         24  which it has had a hearing, because I think it is an

         25  extraordinarily important issue for the health and
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          2  safety of children across the City and in fact for

          3  children across this country.

          4                 I'm a new dad, as the members of this

          5  Committee know, yesterday was my daughter's first

          6  birthday. (applause). Thank you. She blew out her

          7  own candle, by the way, which I think probably does

          8  deserve a round of applause. It was a pretty

          9  exciting moment for all of us.

         10                 But, you know, as a new dad your eyes

         11  open up to a whole world of issues that you never

         12  even thought of before, and when I heard about the

         13  phthalates in toys and the potential harmful effect

         14  phthalates can have on children, I was incredibly

         15  concerned. When I found out that phthalates had been

         16  banned in Denmark, then two years ago banned across

         17  Europe, then last year banned in San Francisco, I

         18  asked, well, why is New York not acting on this? The

         19  opportunity to be in New York is that when we get

         20  something right, the entire world watches, begins to

         21  replicate what we do. I'm looking forward to the

         22  testimony about phthalates, and right now the plan

         23  I've come up with in working with my colleagues is

         24  the following:

         25                 First, to hear this bill and
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          2  eventually to ban the sale and distribution of toys

          3  made with phthalates intended for children under

          4  three years old in New York City.

          5                 Second, calling on toy manufacturers

          6  to in the meantime voluntarily stop making toys with

          7  phthalates until the risks can be thoroughly

          8  assessed.

          9                 Three, working with the City of San

         10  Francisco to identify toys that contain these

         11  harmful chemicals and disseminate that information

         12  to the public; and,

         13                 Finally, calling on toy distributors

         14  to remove these toys from their shelves.

         15                 And I'm interested to hear from the

         16  advocates and doctors and health industry, and I'm

         17  also interested in hearing from the toy industry,

         18  and I guess the chemical industry as well, to hear

         19  their views on this issue.

         20                 So, I thank you very much, Mr.

         21  Chairman. I'm looking forward to the testimony.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much, Council member.

         24                 Next I just want to read in a

         25  statement by Council Member Baez, who is the prime
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          2  sponsor on the DXM legislation. She couldn't be here

          3  today because she is unfortunately under the

          4  weather, but Maria Baez's statement is:

          5                 I would like to thank the Chair for

          6  having this hearing today on this proposed intro to

          7  that will restrict the sale of Medication containing

          8  Dextromethorphan, that's DXM. Under this bill no

          9  person shall sell or offer for sale any medication

         10  in the City of New York containing DXM or knowingly

         11  sell or offer for the sale of any medication

         12  containing the substance to any minor.

         13                 Our studies have indicated that abuse

         14  of medications that contain DXM can have dangerous

         15  side effects, such as blurred vision, loss of

         16  physical coordination, abdominal pain and rapid

         17  heartbeat. I wholeheartedly believe that holding

         18  this hearing today clearly sends a powerful message

         19  that this Council is taking a proactive approach to

         20  ensuring that policies are in place to deter minors

         21  from abusing these medications by mandating that no

         22  person or establishment be allowed to place

         23  medication containing DXM on open display so that

         24  such medication is accessible to the public without

         25  the assistance of the seller, for his or her
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          2  employee, or other agent offering such medication

          3  for sale. And that's a statement by Council Member

          4  Maria Baez.

          5                 At this point in time we're going to

          6  open it up to the Department of Health and Mental

          7  Hygiene. We have George Petit and Nancy Clark,

          8  Assistant Commissioner. You may proceed in the order

          9  that you so choose.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Good

         11  afternoon, Chairperson Rivera and members of the

         12  Health Committee. My name is Nancy Clark, and I'm

         13  the Assistant Commissioner of the Bureau of

         14  Environmental Disease Prevention at the Department

         15  of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         16                 With me today is Dr. Nathan Graber of

         17  the Environmental and Occupational Disease

         18  Epidemiology Program. On behalf of Commissioner

         19  Frieden, I would like to thank you for the

         20  opportunity to testify regarding Intro. 589-A.

         21                 Phthalates are a diverse group of

         22  chemicals widely used because they impart

         23  flexibility and resilience when added to polyvinyl

         24  chloride plastics. Sorry, I'll just repeat.

         25  Phthalates are a diverse group of chemicals widely

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  used because they impart flexibility and resilience

          3  when added to polyvinyl chloride plastics, otherwise

          4  known as PVC. Phthalates are found in a wide variety

          5  of consumer products including personal care

          6  products, such as soaps, shampoos and deodorants;

          7  vinyl products, such as floor tiles, shower

          8  curtains, upholstery, and waterproof clothing;

          9  children's toys and vinyl-covered books; care and

         10  feeding items; gel caps and coatings on some

         11  pharmaceuticals; and medical equipment such as serum

         12  bags and IV medical tubing. As a result, human

         13  exposure to phthalates is common. Several studies

         14  confirmed the presence of phthalates or their

         15  metabolites in persons of all age groups, including

         16  newborns exposed prenatally.

         17                 People are exposed to phthalates in

         18  the food they eat, the air they breathe and through

         19  direct contact with the many products that contain

         20  the chemicals, with ingestion the most common means

         21  of exposure.

         22                 Children, toddlers in particular,

         23  have larger exposures than adults, primarily through

         24  food and contaminated dust. Young children may also

         25  be exposed by mouthing PVC products. Generally,
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          2  phthalates are metabolized and excreted quickly and

          3  do not accumulate in the body.

          4                 All six phthalates identified in

          5  Intro. 589-A have a potential for children's

          6  exposure, are present in a wide variety of products,

          7  and have been subject to at least some scientific

          8  investigation.

          9                 DEHP and DINP, the most common

         10  plasticizers as used in children's PVC products,

         11  have been studied more exhaustedly.

         12                 The main health concerns posted by

         13  phthalate exposure are their potential to interfere

         14  with male hormones and male reproductive organ

         15  development. There is also a possibility that the

         16  chemicals have an adverse effect on female

         17  reproductive organs as well.

         18                 It is important to note that the

         19  studies to date have primarily been conducted on

         20  animals and it is difficult to extrapolate animal

         21  test results to humans: doses administered to test

         22  animals are remarkably higher than those experienced

         23  by people in the normal course of development.

         24  Moreover, the processes of reproductive tract

         25  development are quite different for rodent than they
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          2  are for human. Thus, though animal studies raise

          3  important concerns about phthalate exposure, we

          4  cannot assume that people will experience the same

          5  health effects as test animals. For example, recent

          6  reviews by the National Toxicology Program found

          7  clear evidence that DEHP causes adverse

          8  developmental or reproductive effects in animals but

          9  had limited evidence for similar effects in humans

         10  at the time.

         11                 Intro 589 would ban the sale of toys,

         12  childcare and child feeding products containing

         13  phthalates. DOHMH supports the Council's intent to

         14  guard against potential adverse health effects from

         15  phthalates, however, DOHMH does oppose this

         16  legislation.

         17                 The efficacy of a ban on such

         18  products is dependent on reliably knowing which

         19  products contain the chemicals. However, this

         20  legislation covers broad categories of products for

         21  which the ingredients are unknown. No federal

         22  regulations exist requiring disclosure and labeling

         23  of ingredients in plastic products, therefore

         24  neither the Department, nor the more than 15,000

         25  distributors and retailers in New York City who may
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          2  sell the targeted products can readily know which

          3  products contain phthalates.

          4                 Without federal labeling, the

          5  phthalate ban proposed in Intro 589-A puts an unfair

          6  burden on local businesses, as well as upon the

          7  Department. In order to comply with the proposed

          8  ban, either businesses or the Department would have

          9  to perform laboratory testing to identify phthalate

         10  content of every plastic product sold to determine

         11  whether it is covered by the bill. The children's

         12  plastic toy and care products industries are dynamic

         13  markets, where new product lines are continually

         14  introduced and old lines modified. The potential

         15  number of products covered by Intro 589-A is

         16  difficult to estimate but it is potentially in the

         17  thousands.

         18                 We surveyed environmental

         19  laboratories nationwide and identified only a

         20  handful with capacity to test phthalates in

         21  plastics. In addition, a standardized laboratory

         22  method has not been developed and evaluated to

         23  accurately measure phthalates in plastic.

         24                 In addition, testing a plastic

         25  product for the six chemicals referenced in Intro.
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          2  589-A is costly, ranging from $200 to $700 per item.

          3  This would quickly become prohibitively expensive

          4  and infringe upon the ability of both wholesalers an

          5  retailers to conduct business in the City.

          6                 Complying with the No Sale

          7  Requirement would be prohibitively difficult and

          8  businesses may either be compelled to leave the City

          9  or break the law, neither of which are satisfactory

         10  outcomes.

         11                 In summary, any ban of children's

         12  products containing phthalates should be considered

         13  first at the federal level, where production and

         14  labeling standards can be implemented for

         15  manufacturers as has been done in the European

         16  Union. Banning phthalates from children's products

         17  at the point of production would eventually

         18  eliminate them from the consumer markets. Without a

         19  supporting federal intervention to require labeling

         20  and disclosure of product ingredients, local efforts

         21  to identify and prohibit the sale of children's

         22  products that contain the six phthalates will likely

         23  prove ineffective and haphazard.

         24                 Thank you for your interest in this

         25  issue, and I'd be happy to answer your questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We'll take the

          3  first round of questions on phthalates and then I

          4  guess we'll go into the DXM at a later point.

          5  Obviously I want to give it to Council Member Sears

          6  and then Council Member Gioia who have questions on

          7  this issue.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you. I

          9  was just wondering, why is it necessary to have it

         10  in the products? And it's a clinical question.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Well, I

         12  am probably not the best person to answer. I

         13  understand that they're added to PVC product,

         14  without the elasticize it's very rigid, so it's

         15  purposefully, as far as my understanding, added to

         16  make the product flexible. But you probably need a

         17  plastics scientist to give you that information.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think we'll

         19  have to pursue that.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I

         21  believe that's the reason.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, Council

         24  Member Gioia.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 Can you compare and contrast the

          4  proposed ban on phthalates with the ban on transfats

          5  in New York City?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Oh,

          7  what a question that is. There's a couple of

          8  differences. Both of them, for the similarities,

          9  they're both aimed at protecting people, so we

         10  probably are in agreement that way.

         11                 Banning transfats in New York City is

         12  possible, one of the reasons it's possible is

         13  because we regulate restaurants in the City, the

         14  Health Department does, all food service

         15  establishments, in fact, have to be licensed and are

         16  inspected by us. It's not the case with retail

         17  stores that sell children's toys and products. We

         18  don't routinely inspect them for anything, unless

         19  there is a specific reason to, but it's outside of

         20  our inspectional authority.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, it's

         22  jurisdictional? I mean, you enumerated a number of

         23  issues with the law. I mean, wouldn't a number of

         24  issues you enumerate in your testimony be the same

         25  for transfats?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Not

          3  exactly. The first one, as I mentioned, is that we

          4  regulate restaurants but we don't regulate

          5  retailers. You know, I hope you can appreciate, New

          6  York City, we did a quick look at what did the

          7  retail market look like in the City in the five

          8  boroughs, and we were astounded at the number of

          9  establishments that came up on our search. Many of

         10  them that we estimate would be very small

         11  businesses.

         12                 On the other side, we do regulate

         13  many, many food establishments, and I'm not an

         14  expert at all in the Chronic Disease Bureau, from

         15  the Chronic Disease Bureau who determines to do

         16  that, to promote that Health Code change so that we

         17  have banned transfat. But I think we could say in

         18  general that the evidence for transfat and their

         19  effect on human health is very well established.

         20                 Also, food products are by federal

         21  legislation, are required to be labeled. So, in

         22  fact, when we go into a restaurant our inspectors,

         23  not that it's not challenging enough, can look

         24  across the food shelves and see which products have

         25  contained transfats.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: The labeling

          3  part is for the previously prepared food, the

          4  Twinkees, and et cetera, but it becomes very

          5  difficult for prepared foods in restaurants, so to

          6  be checking everything in the cupboard and the

          7  kitchen.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK:

          9  Councilman, I wish I could answer these more. I'm

         10  really not from the Restaurant Division --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay, fair

         12  enough.

         13                 In terms of trying to figure out, you

         14  know, the different toys that would be banned, I

         15  mean isn't Europe doing this right now? Isn't the

         16  European Division doing this right now?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: They

         18  are, and when you look at their directive, they've

         19  absolutely targeted that ban at the point of

         20  production. That's not what 589 does. 589 targets

         21  retailers. You're way downstream from the point of

         22  production.

         23                 Also, the European ban also requires

         24  labeling, so that a retailer would know. Our

         25  retailers, our 15,000 retailers don't know or have
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          2  no way of knowing which products contain the banned

          3  phthalates. So, for them, that's a terrific

          4  challenge for them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But a lot of

          6  the work is being done by the European Union for us.

          7  In other words, San Francisco is doing it as well.

          8  In other words, it could be a pooling -- if it's

          9  being approved in the European Union, certainly the

         10  presumption could be made that the toy is then

         11  phthalate-free.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: If it's

         13  coming from the European Union. I don't know, and

         14  this again would be a question for the people who

         15  are marketing the goods, but I believe that a lot of

         16  our plastic children products are coming not from

         17  the European Union but are coming from Asia, and we

         18  don't have, they don't have those kind of

         19  regulations that require legislation or restriction

         20  of chemicals in their products.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You know, I

         22  don't think I disagree with you that I think this

         23  should be done on the federal level. But I think,

         24  like many New Yorkers and people across the country,

         25  I'm disappointed in the Bush Administration, and I'm
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          2  trying to think to be fair to them right now at a

          3  time that they've actually ruled against corporate

          4  interests, whether it be for the environment or for

          5  children or for working people. And I'm really

          6  thinking, and I don't think I can come up with a

          7  single example of the Bush Administration going out

          8  of its way to fight a corporate interest or to

          9  regulate a corporate interest that had not been

         10  previously regulated. And I'll continue to think

         11  about it in this hearing. I'm just thinking that

         12  time and time again, the Bush Administration being

         13  big corporation's best friend.

         14                 And, so, I guess I put it to you, and

         15  I say, you know, even if the federal government is

         16  the best actor in this, when the federal government

         17  abdicates its responsibility, or acts incorrectly,

         18  it would be my position that it's up to both the

         19  states and large municipalities, no better example

         20  than New York City, to fill the void and to act

         21  responsibly, and particularly in New York, whether

         22  it be about banning transfats, banning smoking, or

         23  requiring our taxi fleet to be green or a police

         24  fleet to be green or have green builders, we become

         25  a market maker, and just by the fact that New York
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          2  is acting, not only do we shape other

          3  municipalities, but we begin to shape corporate

          4  behavior as well. And as we saw, as we've seen many

          5  times, we actually then can spur the federal

          6  government into action. And I guess that's a

          7  principal, and if you disagree in any way, you know,

          8  feel free, but I guess that's the principal that

          9  this bill is about, and a principal I try to

         10  articulate.

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I

         12  congratulate you really on your optimism, and

         13  usually I'm a pretty good optimist myself, I'm just

         14  -- I just really appreciate the challenges of doing

         15  this. With the little bit of research we're able to

         16  do to prepare for this hearing, I believe there may

         17  be four US manufacturers of phthalates. There may be

         18  as many as 600 manufacturers and importers of the

         19  product, of children's products in general, which is

         20  a very wide range, you can appreciate that. I'm sure

         21  you've got a huge toy box at home.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I think our toy

         23  boxes represent all the makers in the country, all

         24  600.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Yes,
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          2  right. But it starts small. Like if you can control

          3  back at the point of production. By the time we get

          4  to New York City and you have 15,000 retailers who

          5  would have -- and really that represents really

          6  consumers. I think I understand the frustration of

          7  what not having federal action when we need it, it's

          8  not the first time. But when it puts such a burden

          9  not only on the retailers but on the consumer, and

         10  in so many of our neighborhoods we have so many

         11  small retail establishments who may not be part of a

         12  distribution line, where they may be getting all of

         13  their products from a super store and that can be

         14  controlled down the line. I just consider all of

         15  those very small stores, grocery stores, variety

         16  stores, health and beauty aid stores that are

         17  selling, I think what amounts of thousands of

         18  different product items, without disclosure of what

         19  those products contain and some assurance from the

         20  federal government whether or not they're produced

         21  in this country or they're imported from overseas

         22  that we have some knowledge, reliable knowledge as

         23  to what the contents are.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I hear that.

         25  You know, as a parent, one of the things I'm
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          2  advising parents to do is to buy phthalate-free

          3  toys, toys that by manufactures who say we're not

          4  going to use them, toys that say it on the label. If

          5  the toy doesn't say it, to dial a number on the back

          6  of the package and call up. So, that's for the

          7  purchaser, for the end user. I suppose not the end

          8  user, but the end user's parents to call up and find

          9  out what's in it.

         10                 What I imagine is that, if I owned a

         11  toy company -- sorry, if I owned a toy store, you

         12  know, my dad owns a little shop on Roosevelt Avenue,

         13  a flower shop, not a toy shop, but if I was a big

         14  toy seller, and I imagine some of the big people in

         15  the industry will do this, say, well, we're just not

         16  going to sell those toys unless the manufacturer

         17  tells us they're phthalate-free; in other words,

         18  taking the onus away from the distributor and giving

         19  it to the actual maker, the manufacturer. And so my

         20  thought is that eventually, so it's not my dad who

         21  has to call up, but it's Toys R Us, it's Babies R

         22  Us, it's these big companies, and that actually then

         23  shapes the market, because at some point if you're a

         24  toy company, and all of the big players in the

         25  market are calling you up saying we're only going to
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          2  buy your phthalate-free toys, it becomes really not

          3  a very good business move to be making the phthalate

          4  toys. I mean, so that's my thought on that.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: No, I

          6  understand that you would have that thought, and it

          7  certainly has some potential. I just think the way

          8  this bill is constructed, it just puts a tremendous

          9  burden on retail and also on the Department, for us

         10  to even try to draw our resources together to what

         11  it would take to perform a survey, to even know what

         12  the range of products are, what the range of

         13  producers are, and then to even begin to do the

         14  testing, to me feels pretty big challenge.

         15                 And I understand that San Francisco

         16  is moving forward and doing that. They're just a

         17  much smaller City than we are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Sure.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I

         20  looked at, they have 40,000 children under the age

         21  of five, we have 600,000 children under the age of

         22  five, and there must be a lot of retail stores

         23  servicing those 600,000 kids and their parents that

         24  we'd have to police.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Sure. And in no
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          2  way do I want to put an undue burden on small

          3  business owners or on the Department in a way that,

          4  you know, you guys can't do your job.

          5                 So, what I would ask you to do is to,

          6  and the Commissioner to do, is to think about ways

          7  that this can be crafted so that it doesn't place an

          8  undue burden on you, and in a way that actually gets

          9  this goal of getting these chemicals out of toys.

         10  Because the hope here is that, really that the

         11  manufacturers stop making them. You know, and that's

         12  the idea here.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I think

         14  we agree with you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Not that we

         16  have two bins, you know. So, I'd ask if you have

         17  mark-ups or ideas on how we can craft this in a way

         18  so that it's not an undue burden on the City, but

         19  that we get the message across to the toy

         20  manufacturers. Thank you.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: We can

         22  move forward and do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         24  much for your time today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you. I also
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          2  have some questions. My colleague is raising a point

          3  in comparison to transfats and phthalates, because

          4  of the fact that, you know, with the transfats

          5  issue, most national distributors sell the oil that

          6  most restaurants use, which contain transfats,

          7  obviously we found a way to do it in a way that will

          8  shift the market, and that can possibly happen over

          9  here as well.

         10                 But another comparison that's not a

         11  nutrition-based product is lead paint. You know, the

         12  City Council took action a couple of years ago to

         13  revamp the lead paint laws within the City of New

         14  York, and we did it in the Housing and Buildings

         15  Committee, but obviously with information contained

         16  from the Department of Health in terms of the health

         17  consequences, you know, lead paint has on children.

         18  You know, so the City of New York has a precedent

         19  where it does limit the sale of goods and also

         20  enforces, you know, owners to do certain actions,

         21  you know, when it comes to certain products. So, we

         22  have a precedent for that. And on a State level, you

         23  know, when it comes to cigarettes, the State passed

         24  a bill a couple of years ago that makes cigarettes

         25  flame retardant because of the fact that fires were
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          2  taking place, you know, with cigarettes and things

          3  of that nature.

          4                 So, there's a market where national

          5  and worldwide cigarette makers, you know, have to

          6  have a specific cigarette, you know, tailored

          7  towards the State of New York. So, there is

          8  precedent where if the City talks, if the State of

          9  New York talks, so the world listens, distributors

         10  will listen, and since there are 600,000 children

         11  under the age of five in the City of New York,

         12  that's a vast market, and you will see that if the

         13  Council were to take action, you know, on that type

         14  of level, and we are successful with that, you will

         15  see market trends shift in a direction that will be

         16  more healthy for our children. If you look at the

         17  data for the past 30 years, you already have it in

         18  the Department of Health, you know, the sperm

         19  production in males today are 50 percent lower than

         20  they were 30, 40 years ago, and a lot of that is due

         21  to the chemicals that we find, again, like you

         22  stated in your testimony, in the air that we

         23  breathe, and the products that we use on a daily

         24  basis and that's going to have long-term impacts on

         25  our genes and our DNA, but, you know, their action
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          2  doesn't need to take place, and I understand my

          3  colleague's concern being a new father, and you

          4  know, with 600,000 kids in the City of New York

          5  something should be done. I wanted to get a response

          6  from you in terms of is there a comparison with the

          7  lead paint bill that we put forward that did pass

          8  and did survive court challenges; is there a

          9  comparison with the cigarette, you know, changing

         10  ingredients in the cigarettes on a Statewide level,

         11  and the phthalates bill that we're talking about

         12  today?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Well,

         14  first, I just want to repeat again that we'd be

         15  really happy to sit down with the Council's office

         16  and talk about ways that we can make a difference on

         17  these chemicals.

         18                 And then I would like to address -- I

         19  don't think I'm going to address your comment on

         20  cigarette smoking, again, that's not my area. But

         21  looking at the lead paint, it's true that the City

         22  of New York banned lead paint, the sale of lead

         23  paint for the use in residential homes, and we did

         24  that, absolutely we're in the vanguard of doing

         25  that. One big difference between lead paint and
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          2  phthalates, even in 1960, in fact, in 1900, or even

          3  before, we knew that lead paint, exposure to lead in

          4  children caused very serious health effects. So, we

          5  knew that very clearly, that evidence is very strong

          6  and strongly associated with different blood lead

          7  levels. I think that's one difference. This is an

          8  area, not that we're not concerned, in fact we are

          9  very concerned about the potential health effects of

         10  phthalates and others, any other material that could

         11  have an impact, but I think that the difference

         12  between lead and phthalates, one, is one of the

         13  scientific evidence linking the exposure. Lead paint

         14  also has been, it remains today, even though our

         15  caseload, you know, we released our data not long

         16  ago, we're down again more than 15 percent in our

         17  lead poisoning cases in the City, we're very pleased

         18  about that, and our levels, not only are the numbers

         19  down, the severity of the cases is down. But even

         20  with that, lead paint remains the most common cause

         21  of lead poisoning in the City. So, it's very

         22  important and it's always been very clearly linked

         23  with the lead poisoning cases.

         24                 One problem with phthalates is that

         25  they are so common in the environment. They're so
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          2  commonly used that banning them in one sector and

          3  not banning in other sector may not give us the

          4  success that we're looking for.

          5                 Because I don't know if we still have

          6  a strong enough sense of where the most important

          7  exposures are. Not that we can't move on other

          8  exposures, but with lead paint we very clearly knew

          9  that that was the important source, the main source

         10  of lead poisoning. So, I think that's really the

         11  major difference.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Well, you know,

         13  if I can just state that I have nieces and nephews,

         14  and whenever I buy them gifts, the first thing they

         15  do is put it in their mouth, you know, whenever you

         16  buy them a toy.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: But the

         19  difference here is, a lead paint issue, yes, very

         20  serious issue, obviously for the developmental

         21  capacity of our children, but in order for a child

         22  to be affected, they have to either inhale it when

         23  the lead paint is being disturbed, or actually chew

         24  on the windowsills, where the lead paint most often

         25  is. That doesn't happen as often as a kid putting a
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          2  toy in --

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I'm

          4  sorry I didn't make that more clear. Children, when

          5  I say they're primarily exposed to lead paint, it's

          6  really hand-to-mouth, and it's not chewing

          7  windowsills and it's not eating lead chips, it's

          8  really ingesting lead dust. All lead paint

          9  deteriorates in our old buildings. I don't know, 70

         10  percent of our housing was built before the lead ban

         11  in New York City, so there's potential for a lot of

         12  lead paint to remain. But it's really the

         13  deterioration of the paint at surfaces turning into

         14  dust and then if, as you say, children hand-to-mouth

         15  activity. So, we advise all parents in New York City

         16  to frequently wash children's hands and toys because

         17  they do put them in their mouth. And all of their

         18  play activity happens on the floor where there could

         19  be dust levels.

         20                 So, one of our strongest preventive

         21  messages after we tell them to report peeling paint

         22  to their landlords is to do what they can do, get

         23  their children screened, and also to wash their

         24  surfaces and children's items to prevent the same.

         25  And that actually would prevent some of the same
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          2  exposures to phthalates, which we know is in

          3  household dust, and that's an important source. So,

          4  from other things aside from toys actually.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay. At this

          6  point I want to invite my colleague, Council Member

          7  Dickens, to ask a few questions.

          8                 We've been joined by Council Member

          9  Stewart.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         11  much, Chair Rivera.

         12                 Your testimony says that phthalates

         13  is also made in some beauty aids, soaps and

         14  shampoos; is that correct?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The European

         17  Union ban, did that ban phthalates completely or

         18  just on toys?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I don't

         20  know of their full ban. I don't know that. I do know

         21  that they banned the six phthalates that are

         22  mentioned in this bill. I'm sorry I don't know that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And what

         24  about in San Francisco?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: In San
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          2  Francisco it's only the six phthalate materials in

          3  children's items, in children's toys, feeding and

          4  care items.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And the

          6  concern that my colleague has for toys is because

          7  children chew on them, which is ingestion of

          8  phthalates. Well, ingestion can occur in other

          9  means.  When an adult uses a product that has

         10  phthalates, with shampoo, beauty aids through the

         11  source of the skin, has a study been done on any

         12  effects of ingestion other than through the mouth,

         13  has that been done? The phthalates would have any

         14  affect, and is it only on a young body under three?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Well, I

         16  think most of the evidence, and, again, I'm not an

         17  expert in this area. But we know that people of all

         18  ages ingest phthalates because it is so ubiquitous

         19  and common in the environment.

         20                 I think that the concern, the

         21  scientific and medical concern for affects in adults

         22  are less than they are for children, because

         23  children are developing and, therefore --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: That's why I

         25  was asking. A woman that uses a beauty aid that
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          2  contains phthalates, what affect would that have

          3  with her using that product, or him using that

          4  product over a period of two years, or three years,

          5  would there be an effect of them rubbing it on their

          6  skin, using it in their washing of their hair,

          7  because it is ingested in through the pores?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I don't

          9  know the answer to that actually.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And what

         11  affect will that have on reproductive, of a woman of

         12  child-bearing age?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I don't

         14  know what the studies are that are being done, but

         15  certainly your point you're raising about women of

         16  child-bearing age, certainly as women take

         17  phthalates into their system, that is transferred to

         18  their baby, prenatal. And again, adults will be

         19  getting exposure from a wide range of products, and

         20  I don't know specifically what the exposure burden

         21  would be from those personal care items, but it

         22  could be, as you say, shampoo I know is one common

         23  product where phthalates are.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And maybe

         25  this should be for the toy industry --
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Let me

          3  just add, I think I had mentioned earlier in my

          4  testimony, that really through food is the most

          5  common way that adults would be exposed, and that's

          6  just because of a variety of contact surfaces with

          7  the food stream.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And this

          9  maybe is not for you, maybe for the toy

         10  manufacturers, but maybe you can shed some light for

         11  me. Toys that are made with phthalates, you said

         12  it's done so because of the flexibility and

         13  resilience, 30 years ago when toys were made without

         14  phthalates, because you mentioned in your testimony

         15  your concern about the toy industry and the cost at

         16  the retail level, toys made without phthalates,

         17  2007, what impact would that have on the toy itself,

         18  and maybe I'm asking the wrong person?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Yes, I

         20  can't answer that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: All right.

         22  Then I'll reserve that question.

         23                 Thank you so much for your testimony.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: You're

         25  welcome.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Council Member

          3  Stewart.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chair.

          6                 Could you comment on the fact, in

          7  terms of comparison, phthalates as opposed to the

          8  substances like detergents, cleaning fluids and

          9  disinfectants that have carried carcinogens, how do

         10  you -- could you comment on that?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: I think

         12  you're asking, is there a comparison that in the --

         13  I don't know if you're asking is there a comparison

         14  in risk between those two different kinds of

         15  products or the ingredients, and the way I would try

         16  to answer, phthalates are plastic, they're flexible

         17  vinyl products, and the phthalates are introduced

         18  during the manufacturing. Those phthalates can be

         19  released during just normal use in aging, and

         20  thereby, either when the child could mouth or just

         21  by deterioration into dust be exposed as the

         22  hand-to-mouth as we've spoken.

         23                 The other cleaning products, that's a

         24  whole, a wide range of other types of chemicals,

         25  some of which may be detergents, some may be some
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          2  solvent materials. I don't think that either of

          3  those product lines have as in general been

          4  classified as carcinogens, and phthalates themselves

          5  have not been called a human carcinogen.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: In terms of

          7  getting it into your system, if you use

          8  disinfectants or you use cleaning fluids and it gets

          9  in the child's clothing, the child ingests that

         10  chemical, and I want to know if that was compared to

         11  say, well, we are looking to do something with

         12  phthalates, but how do we control disinfectants and

         13  cleaning fluids that has, you know, carcinogens in

         14  it, that the child may ingest on a regular basis.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: We have

         16  not compared them, and I don't know that those

         17  studies have been done. When you talk about exposure

         18  to cleaning products, usually the most common

         19  effect, health effect of those cleaning products on

         20  children, and I'm talking about household cleaning,

         21  glass cleaners, you know, counter cleaners, they're

         22  irritants, and those can't irritate children's

         23  respiratory systems. But in terms of long-term

         24  hazard, there may not be one for those particular

         25  kinds of cleaning items. Phthalates is a different
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          2  way of being exposed. Again, it's mostly in

          3  ingestion, rather than the other one might be more

          4  inhaling and having the irritation in the throat and

          5  nose, it would be, the concern would be that it

          6  would be more systemic, and would cause some other

          7  internal, so it would be more internal affects. I'm

          8  just trying to distinguish, because they're very

          9  different, and there no comparison had been done

         10  that I know of.

         11                 But I think the point you're raising

         12  that it's important to us to be aware of different

         13  exposure in the child environment, and I know with

         14  the Health Department we do work with a lot of

         15  families and educate people about using safer

         16  products, using safer pest control methods to reduce

         17  any exposure to harmful products to kids.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CLARK: Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That seems to be

         22  the only questions that we have on the issue of

         23  phthalates. Thank you.

         24                 And at this point in time we're going

         25  to be going right into the DXM conversation, so
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          2  we're ready for that.

          3                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER PETIT: Good

          4  afternoon, Chairman Rivera, and members of the New

          5  York City Council Health Committee. I am Dr. Jorge

          6  Petit, the Associate Commissioner for Mental Hygiene

          7  at the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and

          8  I am joined today by Dr. Louis Cuoco, Acting

          9  Assistant Commissioner for Chemical Dependency. On

         10  behalf of Commissioner Frieden, thank you for the

         11  opportunity to testify on Intro. 592-A.

         12  Dextromethorphan, or DXM, as it is often called, is

         13  a common ingredient in many over-the-counter cold

         14  and cough remedies. According to the Federal

         15  Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

         16  Administration, large doses of Dextromethorphan can

         17  produce hallucinations and a high similar to

         18  psychotropic drugs. Large doses of DXM may also lead

         19  to unpleasant or dangerous side effects. However,

         20  these side effects are no worse and far less common

         21  than those resulting from large doses of many other

         22  over-the-counter drugs that are considered safe.

         23                 Data on the extent of DXM abuse is

         24  scarce. Since 2003, over 480,000 cases of toxic

         25  exposures reported to the New York City Poison
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          2  Control Center, 112 cases, or 0.002 percent, were

          3  for dextromethorphan exposure. About half of these

          4  112 DXM exposure cases involved suspected suicide

          5  attempts, and 44 percent, or approximately 49 cases,

          6  were reported as DXM abuse or misuse. Of all

          7  intentional DXM misuse and abuse exposures reported

          8  during this period, and there's a mistake in the

          9  text that you have, 64 percent or 31 cases were by

         10  teens, 13 to 19 years of age. To put this data in

         11  context, there were over 10,000 cases of intentional

         12  abuse and misuse reported to poison control during

         13  the same period putting DXM abuse by teens at 0.3

         14  percent of all abuse and misuse cases.

         15                 In a review of hospitalization data

         16  for the seven-year period from 1997 to 2004, we

         17  found that on average 16 New York City residents per

         18  year were hospitalized for exposures to cough syrup.

         19                 Of those hospitalized, approximately

         20  40 percent were children under the age of 18, and

         21  nearly half of all of those hospitalizations involve

         22  suspected suicide attempts, rather than attempts to

         23  get high.

         24                 Published news accounts about DXM

         25  abuse in suburban counties and on Long Island in
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          2  particular, suggest that the problem may be more

          3  prevalent there.

          4                 Intro. 592-A would limit the sale of

          5  medications containing dextromethorphan to

          6  individuals older than 18. A key Department of

          7  Health and Mental Hygiene priority is helping New

          8  Yorkers live free of dependence on alcohol and

          9  drugs, however, the Department lacks any indication

         10  that this legislation will have a significant public

         11  health benefit. Dextromethorphan abuse is a complex

         12  problem, and we will take this opportunity to raise

         13  a number of concerns that we ask you to consider

         14  before passing this legislation.

         15                 The proposed legislation may have

         16  unintended consequences for consumers who require

         17  cold or cough remedies for legitimate, medicinal

         18  purposes. For example, under the proposed

         19  legislation, young mothers would not be able to

         20  purchase these medications for themselves or their

         21  children, and college freshmen may have to rely on

         22  older classmates to buy it for them.

         23                 Under this legislation, all consumers

         24  would experience difficulty making an informed

         25  choice about which product to buy. More than 100
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          2  over-the-counter medications contain

          3  dextromethorphan. Choosing among them can be a

          4  daunting task, particularly for those who have

          5  adverse reactions to other ingredients commonly

          6  found in cough medication such as aspirin.

          7                 This task would be made more complex

          8  by placing cough medications behind the counter

          9  where consumers' access to ingredient information

         10  and contraindication labeling, as well as the time

         11  to read it in a busy pharmacy, is much more limited.

         12                 Furthermore, the danger of

         13  adolescents using DXM may not be ameliorated by

         14  restricting access to dextromethorphan to those 18

         15  and older. Restricting sales in New York City would

         16  not prevent youth who want dextromethorphan from

         17  purchasing cough medication online, where it is

         18  readily available, or in New Jersey, Nassau or

         19  Westchester County.

         20                 Enforcement of the proposed

         21  legislation poses other challenges. Pharmacies,

         22  bodegas and supermarkets would have to request

         23  consumer identification for purchases of

         24  over-the-counter cold remedies. The Department of

         25  Consumer Affairs will have to send inspectors out to
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          2  monitor whether businesses are complying with the

          3  law and devise a system to address complaints about

          4  non-compliant businesses.

          5                 The Department is committed to

          6  improving the health and mental hygiene of New

          7  Yorkers, including addressing adolescent substance

          8  abuse. However, the Department cannot support this

          9  legislation without more information regarding the

         10  extent of dextromethorphan abuse in New York City,

         11  the effectiveness of restricting sales of products

         12  containing DXM, the unintended public health

         13  consequences of limiting minors' access to these

         14  medications and the logistical challenges and

         15  operational costs of compliance and enforcement.

         16                 We appreciate the Council's interest

         17  in this issue, and are pleased to answer any

         18  questions you may have at this time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, Doctor. I just wanted to have a conversation

         21  on the fact of, you know, pseudoephedrine for a cold

         22  and sinus, we know is a federal regulation that it's

         23  put behind the counter of a pharmacist, but it would

         24  be a similar, you know, type of situation. Now, I

         25  know the enforcement issue would obviously be a
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          2  difficult one, you know, for Department of Consumer

          3  Affairs, you know, to engage in, but wouldn't it be

          4  a similar protocol as the pseudoephedrine being

          5  placed behind the pharmaceutical counter, and the

          6  information card being put in the over-the-counter

          7  area so that consumers would have the information on

          8  the ingredients that are used within the cough

          9  medicines?

         10                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER PETIT: I don't

         11  have enough information about the effectiveness of

         12  that ban and the specifics of that to be able to

         13  make a comparison. I can certainly get back to you

         14  on specifics, if you wish.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: No, to my

         16  understanding with the pseudoephedrine, it's a

         17  federal regulation that it's being placed behind the

         18  counter of a pharmacist. But most of it is, you

         19  know, you have an information card over the counter

         20  area and the individual has to go and produce a

         21  driver's license or a State ID to obtain the

         22  over-the-counter drug or the behind-the-counter drug

         23  at this point, and documentation is kept at the

         24  pharmacy.

         25                 Now, it would be difficult in a
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          2  bodega and it would be difficult in a small grocery

          3  store, but what about the larger chains, like the

          4  Rite-Aid or the Eckerts or the CVS's?

          5                 And it can be, I know my colleague

          6  Council Member Gioia mentioned, you know, the

          7  transfat bill, we are designating two types of

          8  industries where we are separating the regular mom

          9  and pop restaurants to the more chain franchise

         10  locations; couldn't this be made in a similar

         11  fashion where we'll be having a conversation on the

         12  major franchise location, like a Rite-Aide or

         13  Eckerts or CVS and figure out the bodega situation

         14  at a later point in time?

         15                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER PETIT:

         16  Possibly so. What I think is important for me to be

         17  able to say is I don't know enough about the effects

         18  of the pseudoephedrine ban, and if there has really

         19  been any impact. And also, I think it's important to

         20  highlight that the problem of DXM use in New York,

         21  or misuse or abuse in New York, is something we're

         22  not really clear of as far as the impact of this

         23  legislation. We're really not sure of what effects

         24  it would have, since we don't think that it's a

         25  large enough problem or sizable enough problem to
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          2  really sort of warrant this type of intervention.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: So, there's no

          4  evidence of under-reporting, like kids getting --

          5  because obviously, I mean, you're only hearing about

          6  the extreme cases when they go to the hospital, but

          7  obviously if one person is doing it, you know, there

          8  is obviously more than that, where there is smoke

          9  there is fire. So, if you have 112 cases in the City

         10  of New York that are documented, emergency room

         11  cases, you know, I mean obviously that's not just

         12  112 people that are taking, you know, engaged in

         13  this activity, there is obviously a large

         14  population, now how do we prevent that from being

         15  abused? I mean are we saying there's a small

         16  fraction of the community that is doing it but maybe

         17  are not ending up in the emergency room that it's

         18  okay for? Or are we saying that we obviously know

         19  that there are instances of it and obviously we know

         20  that that universe is a lot larger, and so something

         21  needs to be done and we're going to find a way to do

         22  it.

         23                 ASSOCIATE COMMISSIONER PETIT: All we

         24  can say is the information that we do have from

         25  Poison Control and Hospitalizations, which is in the
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          2  time period that we have data for, it's a very

          3  small, small number. Anecdotally it doesn't seem to

          4  be a major problem in New York City. In other

          5  counties certainly there's other reports, anecdotal

          6  and in the news, about it being a more prevalent

          7  problem, but we haven't found that in New York and

          8  we can only rely on the data that we have available

          9  to us, which is through Poison Control or

         10  hospitalizations.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         12                 Are there any questions on behalf of

         13  my colleagues?

         14                 Okay, at this point in time I want to

         15  thank you for joining us here today, and we'll call

         16  up the next panel which will be Maida Galvez, MD

         17  from Mount Sinai School of Medicine.

         18                 Thank you very much. You can begin if

         19  you have testimony. You can begin with just an

         20  opening statement, if you want.

         21                 Make sure the button is on.

         22                 DR. GALVEZ: Good afternoon, Chair

         23  Rivera and Council members. My name is Dr. Maida

         24  Galvez, I'm a pediatrician from Mount Sinai School

         25  of Medicine. I am the Director of the Mount Sinai
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          2  Pediatric Environmental Health Specialty Unit, and

          3  I'm a principal investigator on a research project

          4  funded by the National Institute of Environmental

          5  Health and Sciences, looking at how phthalate

          6  exposure --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We can barely

          8  hear. I apologize. We apologize. The sensitivity of

          9  the mics may not be --

         10                 DR. GALVEZ: I'm a New Yorker.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: There you go.

         12                 DR. GALVEZ: Good afternoon. I'm Dr.

         13  Maida Galvez, a pediatrician from Mount Sinai School

         14  of Medicine. I am Director of the Mount Sinai

         15  Pediatric Environmental Health Specialty Unit and

         16  conduct research, called"Growing Up Healthy In East

         17  Harlem," which is basically looking at phthalate

         18  exposure and how it influences kids' growth and

         19  development.

         20                 I'm presenting testimony on behalf of

         21  myself and my colleagues at Mount Sinai.

         22                 Phthalates are a family of chemicals

         23  added to some plastics to make them softer and

         24  flexible. Worldwide production has increased from

         25  very low levels in the mid-1940s to approximately
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          2  3.5 million metric tons per year. Due to its

          3  widespread use, concerns have been raised that

          4  children, especially infants and toddlers, may be

          5  uniquely vulnerable and hence may suffer long-term

          6  health effects from phthalate exposure at critically

          7  important states of development.

          8                 Phthalates are widely prevalent.

          9  They're found in many consumer products - packaging,

         10  vinyl flooring and wall covering, medical supplies

         11  such as intravenous tubing, and personal care

         12  products include fragrances, cosmetics and nail

         13  polish. And children are at great risk for exposure

         14  to phthalates. They're widely used in products

         15  manufactured specifically for children, including

         16  toys, infant bottles and pacifiers. DEHP, or

         17  diethylhexylphthalate, is a common phthalate found

         18  in children's toys and products, and it is produced

         19  in volumes approaching 2 million tons per year. It

         20  is estimated that the total intake of DEHP is higher

         21  in all children younger than 19 years, as compared

         22  to adults. The highest estimated phthalate levels,

         23  intake levels, are in children under four years old.

         24                 Since phthalates are not chemically

         25  bound to the plastics to which they are added, they
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          2  can leach out of products causing exposure by

          3  ingestion of foods found in plastic packaging,

          4  children's mouthing of products with phthalates,

          5  breathing in dust generated from phthalates

          6  containing products, or through direct contact with

          7  skin.

          8                 Exposure is ubiquitous. The Centers

          9  for Disease Control and Prevention has published

         10  three national surveys assessing phthalate exposure

         11  by measuring the levels of urine of a US population

         12  six years old and greater. These surveys indicate

         13  that the US population is universally exposed.

         14                 Measurable concentrations of

         15  phthalates are present today in the bodies of nearly

         16  all Americans and children have disproportionately

         17  high levels of exposure.

         18                 Children are uniquely vulnerable to

         19  phthalates. There is a growing concern that children

         20  are uniquely vulnerable because they frequently

         21  place toys and other plastic products in their

         22  mouths, an age-appropriate behavior. This is in part

         23  because (1) children consume more calories per

         24  kilogram of body weight, (2) they breathe faster

         25  than adults, consume more dairy products and other
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          2  fatty foods, which often have higher levels of

          3  phthalates and mouth, suck and chew on toys.

          4                 Animal studies demonstrate that

          5  phthalates can affect the liver, the kidneys,

          6  thyroid, testes and reproductive systems of both

          7  boys and girls.

          8                 Phthalates have also been shown to

          9  cause fetal death, malformations, infertility and

         10  liver and kidney cancer in laboratory animals.

         11                 Pregnant laboratory animals exposed

         12  to DEHP have borne offspring with skeletal

         13  cardiovascular and eye abnormalities. Offspring with

         14  neural tube defects, increased rates of spontaneous

         15  abortion, increased infant mortality and stunted

         16  growth both during and after pregnancy.

         17                 Thus, exposures in pregnancy may be

         18  harmful to offspring even in the absence of clinical

         19  symptoms in the mother. And this demonstrates that

         20  kids may be uniquely vulnerable when they're exposed

         21  at critical stages to development and childhood.

         22                 Human studies are limited. A study by

         23  Bornehag et al, demonstrated that phthalates within

         24  the range of what is normally found in household

         25  dust, is associated with allergic symptoms in
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          2  children. These symptoms include allergic rhinitis,

          3  eczema and asthma. A study by Colon et al raised the

          4  question of a possible association between

          5  plasticizers and early breast development in young

          6  Puerto Rican girls.

          7                 At Mount Sinai, we are one of three

          8  breast cancer and environment resource centers in

          9  the country, a consortium established by the

         10  National Institute Environmental Health Sciences and

         11  the National Cancer Institute to assess the role of

         12  environmental factors, including phthalate exposure

         13  on early puberty in 1,200 girls across the country.

         14                 We're also a center for Children's

         15  Environmental Health and Disease Prevention

         16  Research, and we're currently examining the role of

         17  phthalates and other plasticizers and their impact

         18  on children's growth and development, specifically

         19  with respect to children's risk for obesity.

         20                 This community-based project has

         21  enrolled 400 East Harlem children, ages six to eight

         22  years old, and included with this testimony are

         23  educational materials that we have developed for

         24  families so they can decide whether or not plastics

         25  are harmful to their kids' health.

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 We call upon you for legislation that

          3  protects the health of New York City kids. The full

          4  range of phthalate toxicity in humans is not yet

          5  known, due to the lack of human studies. In July of

          6  2000, an expert panel convened by the Center for

          7  Evaluation of Reproductive Risk to Humans of a

          8  national toxicology program expressed concern that

          9  infants and young toddlers, because of their diets

         10  and mouthing behaviors, might have higher exposures

         11  to DEHP at a time when the male reproductive track

         12  is still developing and potentially vulnerable.

         13                 Studies have demonstrated that the

         14  system most sensitive to phthalate exposure is the

         15  reproductive tracks of immature males. Changes are

         16  seen in the testes, as well as decreased sperm

         17  numbers. In response to the disturbing disorders

         18  seen in experimental studies of phthalate toxicity

         19  that were noted above, the European Union and the

         20  City of San Francisco have taken action and reduced

         21  the burden of phthalate exposure in vulnerable

         22  populations. In fact, due to the uncertainty in

         23  predicting total phthalate exposure of infants and

         24  very young children through ingestion, mouthing and

         25  inhalation of phthalates, according to the American
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          2  Academy of Pediatrics, the technical report, the US

          3  and Canada have recommended removal of all

          4  phthalates from infant bottle nipples, pacifiers,

          5  teethers and infant toys intended for mouthing.

          6                 In these instances, government has

          7  taken a precautionary approach, refusing to wait

          8  until human studies confirm the health affects

          9  already seen in animals. These measures have been

         10  enacted to protect our most vulnerable populations,

         11  infants and toddlers at critical stages of

         12  development, and hence, at greatest risk for a wide

         13  range of potential health effects.

         14                 New York City has the opportunity to

         15  join the ranks of the European Union and San

         16  Francisco, and clearly stating that children's

         17  environmental health is a top priority in New York

         18  City, and we will not continue to allow products to

         19  be tested in the global market, only to find that

         20  decades later there is evidence of harm.

         21                 We have seen this cycle of public

         22  health strategy time and again with lead, asbestos,

         23  mercury and countless other environmental hazards.

         24  We must ensure that toys and products used regularly

         25  by children are free from harmful chemicals, such as
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          2  phthalates.

          3                 Council Member Gioia's proposal

          4  propels New York City to the forefront of children's

          5  environmental health protection. Legislation banning

          6  the use of phthalates in children's toys and

          7  products will protect the health of generations of

          8  New York City children.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         11  much. At this point in time we have Council Member

         12  Arroyo who wants to ask questions, Council Member

         13  Gioia and then Council Member Stewart.

         14                 DR. GALVEZ: Hi.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         16  Thank you, Dr. Galvez, for your testimony. It seems

         17  that DOH and you guys are not talking.

         18                 DR. GALVEZ: I understand the

         19  constraints by the Department of Health. It's

         20  legislation that would be difficult for them to

         21  enforce. Regardless, I think this legislation is

         22  important to protect the health of the kids.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: But

         24  given your testimony, I hear that you have found a

         25  connection between these chemicals and the effects
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          2  on health in, in particular, young individuals. The

          3  testimony that DOH gave is that, well, we really

          4  don't know if this, you know, should be a concern.

          5                 DR. GALVEZ: The animal studies are

          6  clear. There are certainly health effects in

          7  animals, particularly when animals are exposed to

          8  prenatally and throughout early infancy and

          9  childhood.

         10                 The human studies are lacking. I

         11  argue that we shouldn't need to wait for human

         12  studies to bear out evidence of harm.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         14  Now, when will you have your studies concluded with

         15  the individuals, and in a very targeted area, I

         16  might add. I'm a little concerned that someone might

         17  come back and say, well, you only use 400 children

         18  in Harlem or East Harlem and then there are some

         19  other environmental things that could be going on

         20  there that, I'm concerned about that. When will you

         21  wrap up those studies?

         22                 DR. GALVEZ: So, these studies have

         23  been ongoing since 2003, and the Breast Cancer and

         24  the Environment Research Center, which is looking at

         25  valid exposure in other plasticizers and their
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          2  impact on puberty in girls is actually a

          3  multi-center study. So, 400 New York City girls, 400

          4  in Cincinnati and 400 in California. So, we expect

          5  to enroll children, a diverse background of diverse

          6  socioeconomic levels.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO: And

          8  it will conclude when?

          9                 DR. GALVEZ: In the coming years, two

         10  to three years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         12  Wow, that long.

         13                 DR. GALVEZ: And that's why I argue

         14  that we shouldn't need to wait for these studies to

         15  propose change.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEL CARMEN ARROYO:

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have

         19  Council Member Gioia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman. And is it Doctor or Professor?

         22                 DR. GALVEZ: Doctor.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Doctor, thank

         24  you very much for your testimony, and it's

         25  incredibly compelling, in my view, and when you say
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          2  that you don't want this cycle, this cycle of public

          3  health tragedies continue, I feel like I've seen the

          4  same bad movie over and over again, that a harm, a

          5  potential harm is raised, there is a lot of money to

          6  be made and an industry comes up and puts out junk

          7  science to confuse folks and say their conclusions

          8  are not clear, and we need to wait decades to find

          9  out, and kids will have tremendous side effects

         10  before we act.

         11                 It's hard to believe that the same

         12  pattern happened over and over again, whether it be

         13  lead or asbestos or mercury or countless other

         14  environmental hazards. And I say to my colleagues, I

         15  just hope that we don't let this continue.

         16                 But the question I want to ask is, in

         17  some ways because Europe has acted before us, isn't

         18  there a potential at this point, that I read one

         19  news account that in China there are factories

         20  overflowing with these toys filled with these toxic

         21  chemicals, these junk toys are sitting in factories

         22  in China because they've been turned away from the

         23  European Union. Isn't there a concern that our

         24  cities will be flooded with some of these poisonous

         25  toys, particularly in low-income neighborhoods,
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          2  because I think some of the larger manufacturers are

          3  stopping to sell them, so isn't there a concern that

          4  some of these toys that have been turned away from

          5  the European markets can show up in stores, in some

          6  of the neighborhoods you talked about across New

          7  York City, and having harmful effects on

          8  unsuspecting children?

          9                 DR. GALVEZ: That certainly is

         10  possible. And I believe it's the duty of government

         11  to protect the consumers in this instance, when they

         12  can't make educated decisions because labeling isn't

         13  available for these products. So, I think we need

         14  legislation to protect the health of the kids.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         18                 Before the next Council member asks a

         19  question, I just have a question. I know you're a

         20  doctor and you're more into the health side of it,

         21  but there obviously will be questions raised on

         22  jurisdiction and do we actually have jurisdiction.

         23  Has anybody done any research on the legal side of

         24  whether or not the City of New York can go forward

         25  with this? Or has that not come across the table?
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          2                 DR. GALVEZ: That's not my area of

          3  expertise, I'm sorry I can't help you with that. San

          4  Francisco has put forth the legislation and even the

          5  European Union now has actually had a trickle-down

          6  effect, so companies that are making products for

          7  the European Union, have removed phthalates, and

          8  that actually has helped us in the United States.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That's just my

         10  question. I understand the European Union, you know,

         11  did it, but they're more of the, I guess the

         12  national type of situation where a City situation,

         13  even though we may agree on the health consequences,

         14  my question is just on the legality side of it. I

         15  was just wondering if there was any research done

         16  outside of ourselves, because obviously this is new

         17  to us, and we're researching this, but I wanted to

         18  see if there was any information you have?

         19                 DR. GALVEZ: And can you clarify by

         20  legality --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Just on the

         22  inter-state/intra-state, you know, distribution of

         23  products and consumers, you know, that type of

         24  question?

         25                 Because I'm thinking in my head, and
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          2  I know my colleague mentioned the transfat issue,

          3  and I'm thinking we did do it and we did it more for

          4  the fast food industries and not for the

          5  prepackaged. So, my question is just on the level of

          6  jurisdiction that we have. I don't know the answer

          7  to that question. I'm just throwing it out there.

          8  Next will be Council Member Stewart and Council

          9  Member Dickens.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         11                 Doctor, with all your studies that

         12  you have done in this area, have you ever heard

         13  about any substitutes that they have for phthalates

         14  that they've put out that they're using?

         15                 DR. GALVEZ: It definitely is

         16  important to look at what alternatives are out

         17  there.

         18                 Certainly one way to look at plastics

         19  and whether or not they're safe is you could look

         20  under any plastic products and usually they're

         21  numbered. So, in general the safer plastics are

         22  labeled 1, 2, 4 and 5, and the plastics to avoid are

         23  labeled 3, 6 and 7, and that's actually in my

         24  testimony. One of the educational materials that we

         25  developed for families. So 3, 6 and 7, 3 is
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          2  polyvinyl chloride, and it's basically the number

          3  that you see on any plastic that's circled by a

          4  triangle. 6 is polysterene, which is a chemical

          5  called bisphenol A, which is another chemical that

          6  we are currently researching in our studies.

          7                 So, those are the plastics that we

          8  recommend that you try to avoid, it's impossible to

          9  eliminate it completely. But certainly if you have a

         10  choice --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: What are the

         12  numbers again?

         13                 DR. GALVEZ: Three, 6 and 7.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Three, 6 and 7.

         15  Okay, I'm looking at mine, it has 5. How is 5?

         16                 DR. GALVEZ: Five is considered one of

         17  the safer plastics.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, thank you.

         19                 DR. GALVEZ: And something that we

         20  actually developed for our families is little cards

         21  that they can keep, so they can look, and I'll

         22  distribute those to the Council members as well, the

         23  easy way to check whether or not a product actually

         24  contains phthalates or note.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Now, my next
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          2  question, you know that the federal government

          3  basically controls the laws of labeling and et

          4  cetera, then you know, what good is it for us to

          5  pass a law like this is we cannot really, you know,

          6  you know, we cannot really put the controls over it,

          7  if the federal government deals with the labeling?

          8                 DR. GALVEZ: I think the similar thing

          9  could be said for lead. Lead is bound in children's

         10  toys and, yet, we still see lead getting by and

         11  being imported into the country and being

         12  distributed to the market. It doesn't mean that we

         13  should get rid of legislation against lead in toys.

         14  I think it's important to have this type of

         15  legislation so we could by and large remove --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well, I think

         17  there's a misunderstanding there. We don't have in

         18  New York City a law against lead and lead in toys.

         19  We have in the paint and housing, et cetera, but

         20  because most of these toys are made some place else,

         21  somewhere else. I can give you a list of things that

         22  are made outside of New York City that comes into

         23  New York City with lead in it. Likewise other

         24  products that are dangerous to kids. We don't have

         25  control over that. In New York City we have control
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          2  in terms of our housing, and so we put the onus on

          3  landlords to really do something about it. But in

          4  this case we're talking about labeling products, or

          5  having products that are made outside of this

          6  country and even in other states that may come in

          7  here. What control can we have, or what can we do

          8  even if we pass a law like this?

          9                 DR. GALVEZ: That's a very good

         10  question. I think in the absence of federal

         11  legislation, I think we're in a unique position to

         12  say that this is a concern and that we need to

         13  minimize case exposures to these harmful chemicals,

         14  and the toys that our kids are playing with should

         15  not have harmful chemicals in them. I think that is

         16  a very powerful statement and that has the ability

         17  to change the way corporations work and it can

         18  change the market.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, all

         20  right. I think we should -- maybe we can do

         21  resolution, let the federal government know that we

         22  are concerned about it. But as I look at it now, I

         23  don't see how we can really put in the law like

         24  this, how we can really go forward with this, in

         25  making sure that we protect kids. Because there is
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          2  no -- you know, there is going to be a lot of

          3  problems in terms of really checking out to see what

          4  products or toys that will have phthalates in it,

          5  because the majority of toys have some form of

          6  phthalates, and I was looking to see if there is an

          7  available substitute that they can use that have

          8  been tested that are not that harmful to kids that

          9  we can say, well, listen, we advise them to use

         10  that. But we haven't gotten that far and we don't

         11  have control in terms of labeling, so, I don't know

         12  how we can do it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair. Just a point of clarification with regard to

         15  Council Member Stewart. There are a number of

         16  manufacturers who have already begun to phase

         17  phthalates out. Since Europe is ahead of us in this

         18  and banning this across the European Union, a number

         19  of manufacturers have found substitutes. In other

         20  words, they're still selling toys in Europe and the

         21  kids are still playing with toys in Europe and

         22  companies are still doing quite well there. So,

         23  substitutes have been created.

         24                 In fact, the question I was asking

         25  earlier is because there is now a backlog of the
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          2  phthalate toys, companies, my concern is that

          3  companies will be dumping them somewhere, and

          4  they'll be dumping them exactly here. In other

          5  words, because Europe has acted before us, their

          6  children will be safer, vis-a-vis our children

          7  because of their legislation.

          8                 But to be clear, there are companies

          9  out there, and I don't have the list in front of me,

         10  I wish I did -- Zowie, you have the list -- of some

         11  major companies that have voluntarily begun to not

         12  sell phthalates in their toys in the United States,

         13  and some major retailers that have already begun to

         14  ban their sale as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, next would

         16  be Council Member Dickens.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you,

         18  Chair Rivera, and thank you, Doctor, for your

         19  testimony. I see here that you're doing a project

         20  that's a study on 400 East Harlem, since that's my

         21  district, children, ages six to eight and the

         22  correlation with phthalates and our children's risk

         23  for obesity; is that my understanding? And

         24  phthalates is in a lot of other products, including

         25  beauty aids, I want to know is there a study being
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          2  done to see if that's why I've gained weight? Just

          3  asking. I want to know.

          4                 DR. GALVEZ: There's actually

          5  compelling animal studies that look at chemicals

          6  with hormonal activity. So, phthalates that have

          7  hormonal activity, and studies by Reba Newbolton et

          8  al (phonetic), have shown that animals exposed to

          9  compounds with estrogenic activity, the animals that

         10  are exposed weigh more, they're obese compared to

         11  the other animals.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Maybe this

         13  should be expanded somewhat to include some of the

         14  beauty aids.

         15                 DR. GALVEZ: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: In all

         17  seriousness, it may be something to look at, but in

         18  all seriousness --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: As part of my

         20  Anti-Obesity Initiative?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes.

         22  Absolutely. I think you should include this. But in

         23  all seriousness, the 400 children that are being

         24  used in this project, have their parents been

         25  notified that this is being conducted? What exactly
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          2  entails in the testing in these children?

          3                 DR. GALVEZ: So this project is a

          4  community-based participatory research project, so

          5  at the inception of the study we went out into the

          6  community and met with community partners, families,

          7  other community-based organizations, and said what's

          8  the major concern here in East Harlem, and by and

          9  large obesity was one of the top three things that

         10  families are concerned about. It's the highest

         11  prevalence of adult obesity and two times the

         12  prevalence of diabetes compared to any New York City

         13  neighborhood.

         14                 And they are concerned about early

         15  development, as well. And the other study looking at

         16  puberty, those families are very concerned that

         17  environmental chemicals such as phthalate

         18  plasticizers can influence timing of puberty.

         19                 So, this is something families are

         20  very concerned about. We're measuring the levels in

         21  urine, basically.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I agree, but

         23  what I'm asking about is does this project entail

         24  testing the 400 children specifically as it relates

         25  to phthalates, and have their parents been notified
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          2  that this is being done? And what does this testing

          3  include?

          4                 DR. GALVEZ: Absolutely.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Is this

          6  something that's invasive? Is blood drawn? What are

          7  you doing?

          8                 DR. GALVEZ: Blood is not drawn. This

          9  is a urine test, and the families are aware. And

         10  part of our goal in this study is actually to give

         11  information back as the study is ongoing and not to

         12  wait until the study is completed to give

         13  information back to our families. And in my

         14  testimony I actually included -- this card was

         15  actually developed for families in our study and

         16  also a phthalate fact sheet, and that's to answer

         17  basic questions that families may have about the

         18  exposures so that they can, in the meantime, while

         19  the study is ongoing, choose to reduce their

         20  exposures.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes, I've

         22  seen the numbers on different manufactured plastic

         23  products, but now we're talking about on children's

         24  toys, children, mothers, grandmothers and other

         25  people buy plastic bags and other things that are
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          2  plastic, and children do chew on those things as

          3  well. And we were looking to see other things made

          4  of plastic were labeled.

          5                 Eric, was there anything labeled on

          6  that?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: There is

          8  nothing on my blackberry.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I was just

         10  wondering because sometimes children do get these

         11  things and put them in their mouths and there is no

         12  labeling of other products then.

         13                 I've seen it on some children's

         14  products, and some food containers, but I was just

         15  looking, we all started looking at everything, and I

         16  notice I didn't see anything. So, is there any

         17  legislation that is being considered by Mount Sinai

         18  to ask to be implemented that would regulate that

         19  anything made of plastic would have something like

         20  this on it? A number, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7?

         21                 DR. GALVEZ: We would certainly

         22  support such legislation, and that's why we're here

         23  today, to support the --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Certainly the

         25  medical field employs a great number of lobbyists

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  that maybe could start something like that.

          3                 DR. GALVEZ: And something we're doing

          4  for the families in our study is trying to determine

          5  what are the most important sources of exposure in

          6  the community. And not only toys, but also personal

          7  hygiene products.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         11  much. I just have one question myself. Do you, or

         12  does Mount Sinai know the cost of creating the

         13  number 3, 6 and 7, versus the 1, 2, 4 and 5? Is it a

         14  cost issue? Is it more expensive for certain types

         15  of plastics and less expensive for others?

         16                 DR. GALVEZ: I don't know the answer

         17  to that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: All right. Thank

         19  you. There are no other questions on behalf of my

         20  colleagues, I want to thank you for coming out here

         21  and giving us your testimony.

         22                 DR. GALVEZ: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: We're going to

         24  call up a panel. We're going to have Frederick

         25  Locker from the Juvenile Projects Manufacturing
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          2  Association. We're going to have Joan Lawrence from

          3  the Toy Industry Association; and Jeffrey Holtzman

          4  from The Goldberger Company.

          5                 Okay, you may begin in any order.

          6                 MS. LAWRENCE: Good afternoon. I'm

          7  Joan Lawrence. I'm Vice President of Safety

          8  Standards and Regulatory Affairs for Toy Industry

          9  Association. TIA is a not-for-profit trade

         10  association, composed of more than 500 members, both

         11  large and small in size.

         12                 Toy Safety is the number one priority

         13  for Toy Industry Association and its members. We

         14  have always recognized the special relationship

         15  we've had with children who are our principle

         16  consumers. Their safety and well-being is always our

         17  top priority. We have led in the area of toy safety

         18  for more than seven decades, including development

         19  of the first comprehensive toy safety standard in

         20  the 1970s, and today continue to ensure that US

         21  standards serve as models for the worldwide

         22  industry.

         23                 Our efforts have paid off, as

         24  illustrated in the annual reports of the US Federal

         25  Agency that oversees toys, which regularly lists
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          2  toys as among the safest of 15 consumer products

          3  commonly found in the home.

          4                 My roles with the Toy Industry

          5  Association are to develop standards for toys.

          6  Working with industry, government consumer

          7  organizations and academics in this effort, the US

          8  risk-based standards are widely used as models

          9  around the globe, including in the European Union.

         10                 We educate the industry on these

         11  standards so they can comply and we educate parents

         12  and caregivers on choosing appropriate toys and

         13  ensuring safe play in the home.

         14                 In addition to my 15 years with TIA,

         15  in my role as Chair for Standards Development with

         16  ASTM International, I'm a mother of three young

         17  children myself, including a five-year-old and twin

         18  three-year-olds. So, my role in toy safety is one I

         19  take very seriously. On behalf of TIA and its

         20  members, I'd like to address the Committee today on

         21  the subject of phthalates and soft vinyl toys, which

         22  Intro. No. 589 proposes to ban, as we are concerned

         23  it may inadvertently jeopardize the safety of toys.

         24                 TIA commends the bill's sponsors for

         25  their keen interest in the safety of children. We
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          2  share that interest. However, a ban on phthalates in

          3  toys is not supported by the science specific to

          4  these products and how they are used.

          5                 Further, such a ban does a disservice

          6  by needlessly alerting parents and caregivers to a

          7  nonexistent threat, at best, and could subject

          8  consumers to less tested, less safe alternate

          9  materials. Let me explain why we believe this to be

         10  true.

         11                 First, as an industry focused on

         12  safety, we are quite concerned by reports that

         13  ignore and misinterpret the science, particularly

         14  the science that's specific to DINP, or di-isononyl

         15  phthalate, the phthalate most commonly used in toys,

         16  and ignore its 50-year history of safe use. There is

         17  considerable evidence of the safety of DINP;

         18  including:

         19                 - an exhaustive, peer-reviewed

         20  multi-year risk assessment conducted by the

         21  independent federal agency, the U.S. Consumer

         22  Product Safety Commission, that oversees the safety

         23  of toys, specifically looked at the use of DINP in

         24  toys.

         25                 They concluded, "...consumers may
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          2  have a high level of assurance that soft plastic

          3  products pose no risk to children."

          4                 The CPSC Epidemiologist and lead

          5  researcher on this issue, in February of this year

          6  reconfirmed  the agency's position. Having reviewed

          7  recent studies regarding phthalates, the CPSC

          8  reaffirmed their earlier decision on their safety.

          9                 Similarly, an independent assessment

         10  by the European Chemicals Bureau, the scientific

         11  body of the European Commission found that DINP

         12  is"...unlikely to pose a risk for consumers."

         13                 This independent government research

         14  confirms that children are not at risk when they

         15  play with toys softened with the phthalate DINP. In

         16  fact, there is simply no solid, scientific evidence

         17  that any person has been harmed by its presence in

         18  toys.

         19                 No other substance has the solid,

         20  safe track record in toys that DINP does, and as the

         21  U.S. Consumer Product Safety Comnission cautioned in

         22  their study, toys made with alternative substances

         23  could be "...weaker or more brittle and may break

         24  and result in a choking hazard."

         25                 We are very concerned that mandating
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          2  the removal of DINP from children's products will

          3  not improve their safety, and will, instead, have

          4  the opposite effect.

          5                 In sum, there is simply no solid,

          6  scientific reason to ban the use of phthalates in

          7  toys and in our common mission to ensure the safety

          8  of children, we urge you not to do so.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MR. HOLTZMAN: Good afternoon. My name

         11  is Jeff Holtzman. I am the President and CEO of the

         12  Goldberger Company, a New York City-based

         13  corporation which has been manufacturing dolls for

         14  over 90 years. I was the President of the

         15  Metropolitan Association of Doll, Stuffed Toy and

         16  Plastic Manufacturers, an association of local

         17  manufacturers working with Local 223 of the AFLCIO

         18  from 1996 to 2001.

         19                 I am attending this hearing at the

         20  invitation of Councilman Eric Gioia. I believe that

         21  unless the City of New York is able to craft a bill

         22  which would be accurate in its assessments of health

         23  risk, fair to all sides and reasonable to implement

         24  and regulate, we may never reach legislation to

         25  protect our youngest members of society.
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          2                 While all soft phthalate-free vinyls

          3  may contain trace amounts of phthalates, we

          4  consider"phthalate-free vinyl" as vinyl that meets

          5  or exceeds the limits of EN71, the European Standard

          6  and Ordinance 120, the ordinance of the city of San

          7  Francisco. The Goldberger Company is one of the

          8  first doll manufacturers to reduce the use of

          9  phthalates in all of our baby dolls.

         10                 I am neither a scientist nor a

         11  government policy maker. I am a businessman, and I

         12  am a concerned parent, and I feel it is necessary to

         13  take this proactive approach.

         14                 I support Councilman Gioia's position

         15  on limiting phthalates, however, I believe that the

         16  proposal as it is currently written will produce

         17  unintended consequences similar to those that the

         18  City of San Francisco has experienced with Ordinance

         19  120. Because their ban is so broad, the city is now

         20  in court defending what may be indefensible

         21  positions and threatening the life of a bill

         22  designed to protect children.

         23                 As Councilman Gioia's legislation

         24  refers to questionable chemicals that may enter a

         25  child's system orally, I believe it is not necessary
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          2  for the proposed bill to include materials which

          3  would never come in contact with the child's mouth.

          4  Inaccessible parts, such as the inside of a toy,

          5  should not be subject to the same limitations as

          6  surface areas. For example, if a toy has a mechanism

          7  inside that contains phthalates, as many electronic

          8  mechanisms do, the child is, essentially, at no

          9  risk. This legislation, however, as written, would

         10  already ban this toy in the marketplace.

         11                 The City of New York has an

         12  opportunity here to set the standards for the entire

         13  nation. I would like to offer my help to Councilman

         14  Gioia to achieve the outcome of fair legislation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         16                 MR. LOCKER: Good afternoon. My name

         17  is Rick Locker, and I am General Counsel to the

         18  Juvenile Products Manufacturers Association, the

         19  JPMA. In the interest of fair disclosure, I also act

         20  as General Counsel to the Toy Industry Association.

         21                 JPMA, who I am here today speaking on

         22  behalf of, is a not-for-profit trade association. We

         23  have more than 400 member companies. The aggregate

         24  sales annually are about $5 billion, and we are the

         25  ones who are very seriously dedicated to children's
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          2  product safety issues.

          3                 We sponsor, you may know of it and

          4  hear about it every year, Baby Safety Month, in

          5  September of every year. We work with organizations

          6  such as kids in distressed situations, First Candle

          7  or the SIDS Alliance, International Safe Kids and

          8  the US Consumer Product Safety Commission, and

          9  anyone else interested in promoting safety for

         10  children, and, in particular, infants. We also work

         11  with the American Academy of Pediatrics in this

         12  endeavor.

         13                 We're actively involved in the

         14  development of more than 17 different consensus

         15  American Society and Testing Material Standards that

         16  regulate all the products, from birth, that you find

         17  in the nursery, from birth to kindergarten, and

         18  certainly within the toy industry from birth until

         19  14 years of age. You can check us out on the web at

         20  www.jpma.org. We're national in character, however,

         21  our businesses are local in nature. Most of our

         22  members are companies started by moms or dads with a

         23  good idea. Their sales are usually under, most of

         24  them, majority, under several million dollars a

         25  year. They are small businesses, and many of them
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          2  are located in the City of New York.

          3                 On behalf of JPMA I want to address

          4  the concerns that we have with this particular bill,

          5  which would really in effect restrict phthalates in

          6  vinyl, which is used in child care items and toys.

          7  We welcome any, of course, any serious review of

          8  safety issues related to children. We're absolutely

          9  100 percent committed to their well-being. The

         10  products our members make are actually dedicated to

         11  their care, and enjoyment and play and learning.

         12  However, the ban, as in its current form as is being

         13  proposed is simply not supported by the science.

         14                 In addition, the risk assessments,

         15  which my colleague Joan Lawrence has referenced,

         16  performed by federal agencies with the authority and

         17  the responsibilities that deal with these particular

         18  issues simply do not support the concept that toy

         19  products or children's products made with vinyl are

         20  unsafe in any way.

         21                 Now, we've heard today how proponents

         22  of this bill base their support on an

         23  unsubstantiated hypothesis, which is a threat to

         24  children's health.

         25                 Now, banning reasonably produced and
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          2  government-established safe products, could, as

          3  we've noted here today, force consumers to use less

          4  tested, less safe alternative materials.

          5                 In the process a ban might actually

          6  deprive consumers of the ability to choose which

          7  products they want to use for the care of their own

          8  children, and so we're gravely concerned that laws

          9  not be passed based upon unverified reports or data

         10  that ignore and misinterpret the science. The

         11  phthalate, as Ms. Lawrence has noted, as widely used

         12  in the industry is DINP, di-isononyl phthalate. We

         13  do not use, contrary to the statements from the

         14  representative from, the Doctor from Mount Sinai, we

         15  do not use DEHP in toys or many of the other

         16  phthalates in toys or children's products, and

         17  you've heard that there's a record of considerable

         18  evidence in this regard. The exhaustive review by

         19  the US Consumer Product Safety Commission, which has

         20  specific authority in this regard, determined after

         21  consultation with the Chronic Hazardous Advisory

         22  Panel, convened from the National Academy of

         23  Sciences, an independent panel, of scientific

         24  experts in this field in particular, the children

         25  were not at risk from exposure and consumer products
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          2  such as toys and nursery products.

          3                 The CPSC didn't just rest on that

          4  study, they actually went out and did behavioral

          5  studies. They actually did a review using worst case

          6  scenarios, and an exhaustive risk assessment of the

          7  process by which children are exposed and used toys

          8  and nursery products, and they analyzed and actually

          9  observed mouthing behavior, times of mouthing

         10  behavior, exposure and accessibility and they

         11  modeled that to come up with a detailed risk

         12  assessment, and then they multiplied that by a risk

         13  factor to build in a huge margin of safety. And they

         14  determined that consumers could have a high level of

         15  assurance that soft plastic products pose no risk

         16  whatsoever to children.

         17                 Now, the US CPSU is not alone in its

         18  finding, the EC Scientific Committee also found the

         19  same thing. So what this comes down to is, and

         20  what's missing from the proponent's support of this

         21  bill, is disclosure that this body of independent,

         22  extensively conducted, thorough, exhaustive research

         23  confirmed that when it comes, not to cosmetics, not

         24  to shampoos, not to detergents, but to the products

         25  that our members make, toys and nursery products,
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          2  that children were simply not at risk when they used

          3  these products.

          4                 This evidence is a fact that there

          5  simply is no solid scientific evidence that any

          6  person, any child has faced a significant health

          7  risk because of the mere presence of phthalate in

          8  vinyl plastic used to make a toy. And we would

          9  challenge anyone here to get up and swear to that on

         10  any particular product. And I doubt that they would

         11  do that because it's not true.

         12                 No other substance has a solid safe

         13  track record than DINP does in toys. We're also, as

         14  Joan noted, concerned that alternatives might weaken

         15  products. We have a duty to make products that do

         16  not turn into dust, like paint from lead. We have a

         17  duty to make plastics that do not break apart, that

         18  can be aspirated or ingested, or in small parts or

         19  pieces. They have to be durable, they have to be

         20  flexible, and they have to last the life of that

         21  product, because that's where the greatest hazard is

         22  to children, through choking and aspiration and

         23  accidents, and we try to design products to avoid

         24  that.

         25                 We're proud that our members make
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          2  products that are among the safest of all consumer

          3  products found in the household. The CPSE has

          4  determined that toys and nursery products are less

          5  likely to be associated with any hazard or accident

          6  to a child than almost any other product found in

          7  the household. Protective vinyl coverings prevent

          8  bacteriological contamination of child care

          9  products. They're used in car seats as well, which

         10  prevent thousands of injuries of death to children a

         11  year. They add to the safety benefits inherent in

         12  these products that are specifically designed so

         13  they can be safely used with children.

         14                 We certainly welcome the debate on

         15  issues, on any issues related to hazardous

         16  substances, and we urge the Committee and the

         17  Council to recognize that there already is an

         18  extensive scheme of regulations that governs toys

         19  and children's products. They are subject to the

         20  federal level, to the Federal Hazardous Substances

         21  Act, and the Consumer Products Safety Act, and

         22  within New York State, which has its own Hazardous

         23  Substances Act. We cannot make products or toys, we

         24  cannot make items that the Health Department

         25  references containing irritants. We can't use those
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          2  same materials that are found in detergents in toys

          3  and nursery products, and we don't. So, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          5  much. At this point in time, I want to give the mic

          6  to my colleague, Council Member Eric Gioia.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman.

          9                 First let me thank all of you for

         10  your testimony. Mr. Holtzman, thank you for your

         11  testimony, and I want to say I agree very much with

         12  it. And I want to make clear that the goal of my

         13  legislation is not to put an undue burden on

         14  business, and it's a first draft. If there's ways to

         15  improve the legislation and actually get it to go,

         16  I'm very much open to it. From my understanding, the

         17  problem begins with kids mouthing, sucking on the

         18  toys and then the chemicals leaching out of it, and,

         19  you know, if we're talking about, gosh, I don't

         20  know, a wire that makes the eyes light up in the

         21  doll, I don't think that's the issue, it's the

         22  actual, the noise and every other part that the baby

         23  will suck on.

         24                 So, I do appreciate you taking the

         25  time as a busy businessman coming down and
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          2  testifying, and I want to assure you that it's my

          3  intention, and I don't speak for the Committee, but

          4  I think I do speak for the Committee when I say it

          5  is a very reasonable Committee and reasonable body

          6  that is willing to work with business owners to come

          7  up with the very best legislation.

          8                 I have a few questions. Ms. Lawrence

          9  is it? You said that, citing the CPSC study that you

         10  were concerned that -- first, you allude to

         11  hypothetical problems, but then you cite a

         12  hypothetical problem of potentially more brittle

         13  toys causing children to choke. And Mr. Locker, you

         14  referred to that risk, as well. These toys are

         15  banned in Europe, are they not?

         16                 MS. LAWRENCE: They are, despite the

         17  European Commission's own scientific bureau --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: They have been

         19  banned for about a year?

         20                 MS. LAWRENCE: It took effect, yes,

         21  about a year ago.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You know, I

         23  read five newspapers every day, maybe 50 magazines a

         24  month, I can't remember reading a single article

         25  talking about a rash of chokings across Europe
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          2  because of brittle toys. Are you aware of any?

          3                 MS. LAWRENCE: No, but those words

          4  were those of the Consumer Products Safety

          5  Commission.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I don't doubt

          7  that. I don't doubt that you're misquoting them. I

          8  guess my point is, is that we don't need to deal

          9  with hypotheticals. We have a number of nations that

         10  have actually banned the chemical we're talking

         11  about. You criticize us for talking about

         12  hypothetical problems for children, and yet you then

         13  go to a hypothetical problem and say this could be

         14  -- if we ban this in New York City, this could be

         15  terrible, because toys would become brittle, kids

         16  could choke. And, so, what I'm saying to you is,

         17  that across Europe, in England, in Germany, in

         18  France, you can't sell these toys, these chemicals

         19  can't be used, and yet, can you point to a single

         20  case that banning of phthalates has caused a child

         21  to choke in Europe? Because I've got to tell you, I

         22  have not seen one account across Europe of that.

         23  And, so, because I think you can't point to that

         24  case, I will just say that I think what you've done

         25  is precisely what you accused us of doing, is trying

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  to gin up a hypothetical problem. You built up a

          3  straw man to knock down, and I don't know, I was

          4  going to let you go with your testimony, but I

          5  thought that it was absurd.

          6                 MS. LAWRENCE: I was quoting the US.

          7  Consumer Products Safety Commission who extensively

          8  studied this, and their mission is children safety,

          9  and they study choking hazards, issues with sharp

         10  edges, sharp points, and it was their warning. Those

         11  were not my words.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, no, no. It

         13  is your words because you're citing them. It's not

         14  them I take issue with. They were raising a

         15  hypothetical concern. You were critical of raising

         16  hypothetical concerns for children. And what I'm

         17  suggesting to you is you then raised the

         18  hypothetical concern for children, so --

         19                 MS. LAWRENCE: Choking hazards are a

         20  very real issue for children.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Oh, I don't

         22  doubt that choking hazards are a very real issue for

         23  children. The point you're raising is that if you

         24  remove phthalates from toys, that choking hazards

         25  could be raised. And, so, what I'm saying to you is
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          2  this need not be hypothetical, phthalates have been

          3  banned from toys in Europe for a year, I'm asking

          4  you if there has been an outbreak of choking. The

          5  answer is, of course, no. So then I asked do you

          6  know of a single instance that this has been the

          7  cause of choking and the answer to that is also no.

          8  So, what I'm suggesting to you is that if you want

          9  to have hypothetical discussions, then we'll bring

         10  the doctors back up and we'll talk about the

         11  hypothetical problems that phthalates can pose to

         12  children. But if you don't want to have that

         13  discussion, then don't come to us and give us

         14  another hypothetical that is patently absurd.

         15                 MS. LAWRENCE: Well, we must deal in

         16  hypotheticals when we're talking about the safety of

         17  children.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, that's

         19  not what your testimony is. Your testimony is you

         20  criticized us for using hypotheticals. Hold on, let

         21  me find it.

         22                 MS. LAWRENCE: I criticized ignoring

         23  of sound science.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And sound

         25  science, you're aware of no science that points to
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          2  the harmful affects of phthalates?

          3                 MS. LAWRENCE: I am aware of science

          4  that specifically looks at toys and phthalates used

          5  in toys.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Are you aware

          7  of any science that points to the harmful affects of

          8  phthalates?

          9                 MS. LAWRENCE: I am aware of

         10  correlational studies that have found high levels of

         11  phthalates with certain affects, related affects.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay,

         13  correlation studies. Are you aware of any causation

         14  studies of harmful affects phthalates have in

         15  laboratory animals.

         16                 MS. LAWRENCE: No, I am not aware of

         17  any causational studies.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay. Okay, if

         19  that's your testimony. Thank you for your testimony.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Seeing no other

         21  questions from any other members of the Committee, I

         22  want to thank the three of you for joining us here

         23  today. Thank you.

         24                 The next panel that we have is

         25  Stephen Rosario from the American Chemistry Council;
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          2  Marian Stanley from the Phthalate Esters Panel,

          3  American Chemistry Council as well, and Dr. Raymond

          4  David, same organization.

          5                 You may begin. I guess ladies first.

          6                 MS. STANLEY: Good afternoon, Chairman

          7  Rivera, Council members. Thank you for this

          8  opportunity to testify. I'm not going to be reading

          9  from my testimony, what I'm giving you is a

         10  background document. My name is Marian Stanley. I am

         11  the Manager of the Phthalate Esters Panel at the

         12  American Chemistry Council. I'm a trained chemist

         13  and I've been managing this panel for the last 17

         14  years. The panel itself has been in existence for 34

         15  years and has conducted extensive research on

         16  phthalates, as well as worked wit various

         17  governmental agencies to better understand the

         18  mechanisms of actions of phthalates in rodent

         19  models, and to better understand the science of

         20  phthalates.

         21                 Now, let me start a little bit with

         22  where phthalates are used and where they're not

         23  used. The phthalate that is primarily used in

         24  personal care products is not one of the six that is

         25  included in your legislation. And of the six
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          2  phthalates that are in your legislation, two would

          3  be used in anything that would be in a child care

          4  item. As the Toy Industry Association testified,

          5  primary use in toys is the DINP,

          6  di-isononylphthalate. Where you would find the

          7  second phthalate that would be used in toys, DEHP,

          8  di-ethylhexlphthalate, for that you would look to

          9  more of child care items, perhaps vinyl boots,

         10  perhaps raincoats. You may see that used in

         11  something that's a very inexpensive beach ball, but

         12  you wouldn't find that particular phthalate used in

         13  say a pacifier -- well, actually, let me clarify

         14  that. Phthalates are not used in the binkies that

         15  kids use. That's silicon. They are not used in food

         16  packaging, nor are they used in food wraps. Although

         17  the FDA has approved them for use. So, DEHP, again,

         18  more of the lower-end-type play things.

         19                 Now, of the other phthalates there,

         20  dibutyl phthalate is not even used in vinyl plastic.

         21  Or if it is, it's in tiny amounts. It's primarily in

         22  a cellulose plastic. It's been in use for 100 years

         23  and originally it was put into use in the cellulose

         24  plastics that were done at the turn of the century

         25  to imitate ivory. So, you'll see some of these in
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          2  museums. In our daily use, think about screwdriver

          3  handles, and it's only personal care product would

          4  be nail polish.

          5                 I heard another question here, my

          6  colleague, Dr. David, will address this. Have there

          7  been studies, dermal studies with phthalates? There

          8  have been. There have been dermal studies with

          9  animal models and there have been nail bed studies

         10  for cosmetic use. So, we've got that out there.

         11                 What I'd like to tell you is how well

         12  studied phthalates are. What I have here is just

         13  bibliography, it's 109 pages long. These are the

         14  individual studies that government agencies have

         15  looked at, and have had to evaluate the totality of

         16  the evidence of these studies in making a

         17  determination of safety for use in consumer

         18  products. And that determination is based on a

         19  couple of things. It's based on the hazard of the

         20  chemical, as well as the exposure so we can come out

         21  with the risk.

         22                 Now, we know that there are high-dose

         23  effects in rodents. Those same effects have not been

         24  seen in other species, notably hamsters, rabbits,

         25  non-human primates. And again, my colleague, Dr.
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          2  David, can address that in a little more depth.

          3                 So, we know we have this great

          4  database. And as far as exposure, the Centers for

          5  Disease Control and Prevention, as has been stated,

          6  has published three studies that have looked at

          7  various exposures to chemicals, phthalates among

          8  those. The CDC will quickly point out that exposure

          9  doesn't equate to human health risk or harm, not

         10  just for phthalates, but for any of those chemicals

         11  that are detected, and what we have been able to do

         12  with phthalates is back calculate from excretion in

         13  the urine to exposure to parent compound.

         14                 And what we know from those

         15  calculations is that exposure in the general

         16  population in the US is remarkably low. The actual

         17  measured exposure now is lower than previous

         18  estimates.

         19                 Now, we've got that exposure, and

         20  you've got to put it into some sort of context, some

         21  way that you can understand it. What the US EPA has

         22  done, is they've published reference doses, the

         23  reference dose is the amount of chemical, and not

         24  just phthalates again, the amount of chemical that a

         25  person can be exposed to their entire lifetime,
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          2  including sensitive sub populations, including

          3  children.

          4                 When you look at the amount of the

          5  exposure from the CDC data, to the parent compound,

          6  we know that it is well, well within the US safety

          7  limits that have been determined by the EPA.

          8  Particularly that phthalate that's used in

          9  cosmetics. So, the one that you were worried about,

         10  Councilwoman Dickens, you're way below what the EPA

         11  says you can use. So, I'm thinking that you're going

         12  to have to go with the rest of us through diet and

         13  exercise. I mean, I'm there, diet and exercise.

         14                 So, at any rate, the other federal

         15  agencies -- it's getting late. We've been here a

         16  long time, huh? Other federal agencies have looked

         17  at phthalates as well. The FDA has looked at the use

         18  of phthalates in medical devices, and in full

         19  disclosure, they've identified a potential harm for

         20  critically ill, neonatal male infants. It's because

         21  these kids are tiny, they're very sick, and they

         22  would, with life-saving procedures, potentially get

         23  exposure to only one phthalate really, DEHP, that

         24  might be higher than the rest of the population. The

         25  FDA has said that the treatments way outweigh the
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          2  risks. And, again, it's a theoretical risk, because

          3  these kids are too small to study. You can't

          4  ethically sample these kids. You can't ethically

          5  take samples from them, nor for a urine analysis,

          6  can you get enough to get a sample and do anything

          7  reasonable? So, the FDA has made that determination.

          8                 Again, the Centers for the Evaluation

          9  of Risk to Human Reproduction, part of the National

         10  Toxicology Program, they've looked at these six

         11  phthalates, and by and large, other than DEHP, in

         12  critically ill male neonates, they determined that

         13  for the general population there is minimal to

         14  negligible risk of exposure.

         15                 The European Union. Let me talk a

         16  little about the European Union. The European Union

         17  did an emergency ban of phthalates in December of

         18  '99, and extended that for 21 times before they

         19  finally came up with a permanent ban. They set very

         20  narrow parameters around that. They determined that

         21  if it was an article that a child could just lick,

         22  that wasn't a hazard. So, they have guidelines out

         23  there saying that for something to be mouthed, it

         24  has to have a diameter or at least a side length of

         25  five centimeters. So, there's lots that's not caught
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          2  up in that, that children can use in mouthing toys.

          3                 Again, what's being used in the

          4  European Union? Well, you just don't know. Is it a

          5  maleate, is it a sebecate, is it a citrate, is it a

          6  benzoate, is it a phosphate? None really as well

          7  characterized as a phthalate, all of that other

          8  plasticizer group, are they going to migrate? Yes,

          9  they're going to migrate. That just is the nature.

         10  While they're not chemically bound, these are not

         11  chemically bound to vinyl, there are lots of other

         12  forces at work that keep them there.

         13                 I guess the good analogy is think of

         14  a postage stamp. The glue isn't chemically bound to

         15  the stamp, but when you lick it and stick it on your

         16  letter, it stays there. So, there are other forces

         17  at work that keep plasticizers in vinyl.

         18                 I think I'm going to leave it there

         19  and pass this on to my colleague, Dr. David, and I

         20  would be happy to answer any questions that you have

         21  later.

         22                 DR. DAVID: I'm going to go first next

         23  time because you always take away all the -- my name

         24  is Raymond David. I am a Board Certified

         25  Toxicologist. I work for BASF Corporation, but I'm
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          2  here actually on behalf of the American Chemistry

          3  Council's Phthalate Esters Panel.

          4                 I've been working with Phthalate

          5  Esters for probably about 15 years, and I have in my

          6  own personal library, probably 1,300 articles on

          7  phthalate esters, and I know that that's not all of

          8  them.

          9                 I can tell you that the toxicology of

         10  these materials is very complex, as Marian has

         11  pointed out.

         12                 And I'm here opposed to this

         13  legislation because to tell you the truth, I'm

         14  concerned about legislation that doesn't have --

         15  that's not based on real risk, that doesn't have the

         16  science behind it to promote a good piece of

         17  legislation, and that's why I suggest that you

         18  oppose this bill.

         19                 As Mirian pointed out, these

         20  materials have been reviewed by a number of

         21  independent organizations. The European Union has

         22  done risk assessments on virtually every commercial

         23  phthalate that is available, and these are recent

         24  reviews. The US EPA has done a recent review on

         25  dibutyl phthalate, the National Toxicology Program
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          2  has done reviews on the five major phthalates, and a

          3  recent rereview of DEHP.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I have to

          5  apologize, I have to run to another meeting very

          6  quickly, and I'll be returning, so Inez Dickens will

          7  continue chairing the meeting in my absence.

          8                 DR. DAVID: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you.

         10                 DR. DAVID: Now, the people who

         11  reviewed these studies, their safety isn't my

         12  opinion alone, it's the safety that was determined

         13  by these various risk assessments are from

         14  independent scientists, regulatory scientists, that

         15  legislators like yourselves have empowered to

         16  protect human health and the environment, and these

         17  are the people using the standard methodology that

         18  we have used for decades, have come to the

         19  conclusion that there really is not a risk. The way

         20  they do that, just as pointed out in your background

         21  document, the way they do that is they look at what

         22  exposure in animal models produces adverse effects,

         23  and where those adverse effects don't occur. And

         24  then they look at exposure in humans, and the

         25  difference between the human exposure, and what
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          2  happens in animals is so large that they say, well,

          3  there really isn't a risk for those kinds of adverse

          4  effects.

          5                 It's the dose that makes the poison.

          6  It's not a question of if people are exposed, it's a

          7  question of how much they're exposed to. That's a

          8  principal that we in toxicology have lived with

          9  since the 17th century, and it's still true.

         10                 Now, what about reactions across

         11  species. We've heard certainly there are studies in

         12  laboratory animals, rats in particular have

         13  demonstrated adverse effects, effects on either the

         14  adult reproductive tract, male reproductive tract,

         15  primarily, or on the developing male reproductive

         16  tract. And most of those studies have been in rats,

         17  and the question is, well, you could get the same

         18  effects in humans.

         19                 Well, you know, unfortunately the

         20  data aren't that good to support that. Let me tell

         21  you about a couple of those recent studies that came

         22  out. There was a study that was published just this

         23  past year looking at the same kinds of effects in

         24  mice. And you know, they didn't find the kinds of

         25  malformations of the penis or malformations of the
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          2  testes that you would normally see in rats at the

          3  same dose level. Those mechanisms apparently don't

          4  work in mice. We don't really know why that's true,

          5  and that's something that science will investigate

          6  further.

          7                 So, I guess the question then

          8  becomes, well, are humans big rats or are we big

          9  mice? I'm not sure we can answer that question yet.

         10  Some people may be able to answer the question. I

         11  can tell you that there was a study recently looking

         12  at fetal human testes in the tissue culture, and

         13  looking at whether or not that tissue responded to

         14  phthalates the way a rat tissue might.

         15                 Now, it's a very preliminary study,

         16  the techniques for culturing that tissue are very

         17  difficult, and I wouldn't call the results

         18  conclusive, but they did get a response in the rat

         19  tissue, but they didn't get a response in the human

         20  tissue. And you know, that goes along with many of

         21  the non-human primates at least that have

         22  demonstrated a lack of effect in non-human primates

         23  when compared to rodents.

         24                 So, the science just doesn't seem to

         25  be there. And, yet, we hear about a lot of
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          2  associations of exposed populations. We hear about

          3  males from an infertility clinic and whether or not

          4  they were exposed to phthalates and whether or not

          5  that has any correlation to decrease sperm count.

          6                 I could give you my opinion on these,

          7  and I'm sure you might find that fascinating but

          8  that's really not the point. The point is those

          9  studies have been reviewed by government scientists

         10  and they really haven't found them to be compelling,

         11  because in several of the cases they find an

         12  association with a phthalate for which we cannot

         13  demonstrate the same effects in animals.

         14                 Well, okay, theoretically the human

         15  would have the same kinds of responses, but you

         16  can't get that kind of a response in animals, or

         17  they would, the way they construct the association,

         18  it really doesn't seem to follow the signs in

         19  animals.

         20                 And, so, the regulators have not

         21  found those kinds of studies compelling enough to

         22  say that they are, in fact, indicative of an effect

         23  in humans.

         24                 The only study, as Mirian suggested,

         25  the only study that I'm aware of where they've
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          2  actually looked at exposed populations, not affected

          3  populations, exposed populations, it's a small group

          4  of kids who were exposed to DEHP from medical

          5  devices, neonates, critically ill neonates were

          6  exposed, and they looked at these kids at pubescence

          7  to see if there were any adverse effects. It's a

          8  very small study. The kids weren't really very old,

          9  maybe in their early teens, but they couldn't find

         10  any adverse effects in this population.

         11                 I think there is a suggestion to look

         12  at larger populations that may have been exposed.

         13  But, again, the evidence piece-by-piece seems to

         14  suggest that there isn't as much of a risk as some

         15  people might think there are. And so I'd hate to see

         16  you pass a piece of legislation that isn't based on

         17  the kinds of science that you need to have this kind

         18  of a ban.

         19                 I mean, you want to legislate on real

         20  risks. You want to legislate on risks about smoking,

         21  about transfat, about helmets for motorcycles, you

         22  don't want to take toys away from little kids

         23  without good reason.

         24                 MR. ROSARIO: Thank you very much.

         25  Chairperson Dickens and members of the Committee, my
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          2  name is Steve Rosario, and I am also with the

          3  American Chemistry Council. I am Director of the

          4  Northeast Regional Office. I have submitted my

          5  testimony but I'm not going to read it. I think I

          6  would prefer to engage in a dialogue. And certainly

          7  we appreciate Council Member Gioia's introduction of

          8  this legislation because I think it does serve the

          9  purpose to enter into what is a very important

         10  dialogue on the issue of toys and phthalates. And it

         11  allows us to get some information out in the public

         12  ground that often times we don't get that

         13  opportunity. So, we do appreciate the chance to be

         14  here today.

         15                 I am not a chemist, I am not a

         16  toxicologist, so I will leave it to my colleagues to

         17  explain the more technical and scientific, but I'd

         18  like to talk a little bit about who we are, in terms

         19  of who regulates us. Because during the course of

         20  this debate, you will hear a lot about how the

         21  current federal scheme is not working and no one

         22  regulates us. Once again, that's one of those myths

         23  that are out there that we can't get someone from

         24  EPA, either headquarters or either Region 2, to come

         25  here and talk about, so we are left to defend the
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          2  primary law that does regulate us, and that is the

          3  Toxic Substance Control Act.

          4                 Councilman Gioia talked a little bit

          5  about corporate responsibility and I would argue

          6  that in terms of corporate responsibility, we have

          7  stepped up to the plate in terms of what we do as an

          8  industry and what some of our customers, like TIA,

          9  and JPMA have done, and you've heard from them. But

         10  I think sometimes we lose sight of the fact that

         11  even though we represent industry, you know, we are

         12  also mothers and fathers, grandfathers and

         13  grandmothers, aunts and uncles, and we all have

         14  children, and in an industry, in the business of

         15  chemistry, in the plastics industry, we have over 1

         16  million workers. So, we have a vested interest in

         17  making sure that our products are safe.

         18                 In terms of TSCA and what you are

         19  hearing, nothing can be further from the truth,

         20  because in reality, TSCA is a sound statutory and

         21  regulatory system. It is a robust vehicle that can

         22  effectively address emerging chemical issues, while

         23  also retaining sufficient flexibility to promote

         24  innovation in the active involvement of the chemical

         25  manufacturers.
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          2                 While most of my comments will relate

          3  to TSCA, I also want to point out that TSCA is not

          4  the only law that regulates us. There are 14 others.

          5  So, when you hear people say there is no one minding

          6  the store, well, I think we would have to disagree,

          7  and again, my testimony points out to just some of

          8  those laws, and while it is fashionable to beat up

          9  on the current administration, and believe me, a lot

         10  of what they've done is of their own doing, and some

         11  of the criticism well deserved, but I know that as a

         12  former federal employee, there are a lot of good

         13  people in EPA, and NIH, CPSC and other agencies that

         14  are doing a lot of good work and very competent

         15  work.

         16                 Now, in terms of TSCA there are some

         17  very key provisions that, again, I'm not going to

         18  read them, but let me just point out some of the

         19  things that are required under TSCA and that we must

         20  comply with.

         21                 First, to establish an inventory of

         22  chemical substances, which have been on the market

         23  since TSCA was enacted in 1976. We have some 30 plus

         24  years of experience. Again, Europe in many ways is

         25  catching up.
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          2                 Require the review and approval of

          3  any new substances prior to manufacturing that

          4  substance. Limit new uses of existing chemical

          5  substances under an authority known as Significant

          6  New Use Rule. Actually regulating existing chemical

          7  substances through a variety of mechanisms,

          8  including restrictions, product limitations, warning

          9  labels, record keeping, customer notification and in

         10  the most extreme cases, outright bans.

         11                 Councilman Gioia had commented that

         12  he was not aware of the federal government doing

         13  anything, but just to give you an example,

         14  Councilman, under TSCA Section 6, regulated

         15  substances, such as halenated (phonetic) aromic

         16  compounds, heavy metals and fibers are just a couple

         17  that have come under the extreme microscope of EPA,

         18  and the list continues.

         19                 Then there are also voluntary

         20  programs that we have been working with EPA, and

         21  some other agencies, NIH and others. There is the

         22  HPV Challenge Program, the extended HPV Challenge

         23  Program. The one that I'd like you to focus a little

         24  bit on is the voluntary children's chemical

         25  evaluation program.
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          2                 The VCCEP was started in December of

          3  2000 to assess certain chemicals for potential risks

          4  to children through a series of tiered screens and

          5  tests. It was developed as an alternative to TSCA

          6  Section for test rule. Under the VCCEP, which is a

          7  pilot, it is evaluating both hazard and exposure

          8  information and 20 chemicals voluntarily submitted

          9  by 35 companies and ten consortia.

         10                 There again, you know, we have

         11  stepped up to the plate. You'll also hear a lot

         12  about alternatives and that is a very, very

         13  appealing concept, because there are alternatives. I

         14  won't sit here and say that there aren't any. There

         15  are. But I think there are two things that you need

         16  to consider when talking about alternatives,

         17  sometimes they're called "substitutes," is that

         18  first when you talk about alternatives, you have to

         19  ask exactly the same kind of questions that you

         20  asked of the current compounds: what was the

         21  testing? How much experience? What were the

         22  protocol? What were some of the peer review

         23  comments? Et cetera, et cetera.

         24                 The other issue is when it comes to

         25  alternatives, is what I like to call the unintended
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          2  consequences, in terms of what do you do as a

          3  Legislature? Say you went ahead and banned

          4  phthalates, and you required substitutes; what do

          5  you then do when the next group comes up to you a

          6  year or two later saying, well, we have some

          7  problems here with these alternatives and

          8  substitutes. How could we, in good conscience, and

          9  how can the City Council in good conscience defend a

         10  substitute that doesn't have the kind of history and

         11  rich research behind it that a substitute or

         12  alternative doesn't. And it's not because we're not

         13  testing. This hasn't been around long enough and

         14  we're constantly revising and testing, scrutinizing

         15  everything that government asks for us. So, please

         16  keep that in mind.

         17                 I have two last comments and then I

         18  will wrap up. You heard from the toy manufacturer,

         19  and, again, any manufacturer left here in New York

         20  should be commended, because New York is a tough

         21  State and certainly a tough City, and I grew up here

         22  so I know New York City very well. But just because

         23  that manufacturer is using phthalates-free

         24  compounds, that's the beauty of our system - it

         25  allows that manufacturer the choice. Just because
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          2  this company continues to use phthalates, doesn't

          3  mean that that company is any less concerned with

          4  the safety of the product as it relates to children.

          5  Again, that's the beauty of our system. That's what

          6  entrepreneurship is all about.

          7                 And lastly, I just want to correct

          8  two things that had been stated for the record.

          9  Earlier one of the speakers from Mount Sinai had

         10  suggested that bisphenol A is in polystyrene. That

         11  is absolutely incorrect. You will find bisphenol A

         12  in a plastic called polycarbonate, which is a

         13  totally different plastic. Again, we're dealing with

         14  chemistry here. When you start moving the molecules

         15  around because you want plastics to do X rather than

         16  Y, there is some serious chemistry that goes into

         17  that.

         18                 The other issue related to what is

         19  actually known as the resin identification code,

         20  that 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, it has absolutely nothing to do

         21  with safety. It was developed in 1991 by the Society

         22  of the Plastics Industry to help recyclers

         23  understand what plastic they were dealing with.

         24  Because, again, go back to the chemistry, you cannot

         25  mix a 1 and a 2 when you're making a new product.
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          2  Number 1's go here, number 2's go here, and so on

          3  and so forth. Because, again, that is the chemistry.

          4  So, the resin identification code, which many

          5  instances has become a recycling code, the original

          6  purpose was just to have the recyclers identify

          7  their products that they were bringing in, the

          8  recycled resin that was coming in, so that when it

          9  went out to the market, PET, which is number 1,

         10  would get PET, HDPE which is number 2, would get

         11  HDPE.

         12                 Again, we appreciate the opportunity.

         13  I think we look forward to continuing this the

         14  Council and with the sponsor.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Well,

         16  thank you so much, Ms. Stanley and Dr. David, and

         17  Mr. Rosario, you have given us a lot to think about

         18  here.

         19                 My colleague, Councilman Gioia, has a

         20  few questions for you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair. I will try to be brief.

         23                 I just want to get everyone's name

         24  right. It's Ms. Stanley?

         25                 MS. STANLEY: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm very

          3  impressed by all the chemists, and all off the cuff,

          4  no notes. The lawyers had notes, the chemists come

          5  up, no notes.

          6                 Now, you mentioned "binkies," it's

          7  the first time I've ever asked a question with the

          8  word "binkie" in it. Were phthalates previously used

          9  in binkies?

         10                 MS. STANLEY: No, I don't believe

         11  those were ever vinyl. Those have been silicon, and

         12  silicon doesn't have a plasticizer to it. Although

         13  it's interesting that when the Consumer Product

         14  Safety Commission was doing its review, it said

         15  okay, worst case analysis, from our behavioral

         16  study, we know that's what kids keep in their mouth

         17  the longest every day. Let's assume that that's

         18  vinyl, let's assume it's plasticized with DINP, kids

         19  still couldn't get enough of it for harm.

         20                 But, no, they're silicon, because,

         21  gee, that's a lot like mom. Chemistry is a wonderful

         22  thing.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: What about

         24  teething rings?

         25                 MS. STANLEY: You know, teething
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          2  rings, I think there you're going to have a wider

          3  array of materials. I don't think you can say that

          4  it is one type of material. In 1998 the Consumer

          5  Products Safety Commission did ask the toy industry

          6  to remove DINP from things like teethers, because

          7  there were some that were liquid filled that you

          8  could put in the freezer so that the kids could numb

          9  their gums as the teeth are coming in. Those may

         10  have had that, and they said remove it cautionarily

         11  until we get our science done, and until our test

         12  results are in.

         13                 So, I think there, you know, that's a

         14  toy industry question, but I think that's going to

         15  be a mixed bag of what you've got out there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You know, it's

         17  correct to say a number of major toy manufacturers

         18  have voluntarily taken phthalates out of teething

         19  rings? I mean, that is correct?

         20                 MS. STANLEY: They have. Whether they

         21  have put them back or not, I don't know. They can.

         22  The Consumer Product Safety Commission study's

         23  results are in. They denied a petition to ban vinyl

         24  in toys for children five and under.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, I'm aware
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          2  of that, and that's why I'm saying voluntarily, that

          3  a number of toy manufacturers have voluntarily

          4  stopped making teethers that have phthalates in

          5  them.

          6                 MS. STANLEY: And, again, I don't, not

          7  working for the toy industry, I don't know that for

          8  a fact. And if they have, I don't know if they've

          9  gone back.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Dr. David, you

         11  would advise a toy company that phthalates were fine

         12  in binkies and in teethers?

         13                 DR. DAVID: I think so.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I mean, that is

         15  the advice you give them?

         16                 DR. DAVID: I think the data to show

         17  how much material actually leaches out of the toy

         18  that the child is sucking on, I've seen results from

         19  European Union and from the Consumer Product Safety

         20  Commission I think in Canada, and all of them showed

         21  that the levels were very, very low.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So you would

         23  advise the toy companies that, one, you recognize

         24  that phthalates leach from the teethers.

         25                 DR. DAVID: Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But it's your

          3  view and you would advise the toy companies that the

          4  level that the phthalates leach from the teethers is

          5  an acceptable risk to infants?

          6                 DR. DAVID: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And in your

          8  view it would no over the course of a lifetime,

          9  because remember, we're talking about the totality,

         10  right? The phthalates in your system through all the

         11  different sources that we've talked about, it would

         12  not increase the risk of any of these things that

         13  we've talked about, this parade of horribles?

         14                 DR. DAVID: Well, we're taught never

         15  to say never, but I think that the information that

         16  we have would suggest that those are acceptable

         17  levels over the course of a lifetime.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, it's a

         19  really interesting tautology, and I think it may be

         20  helpful to talk about the burdens of proof that we

         21  face, because if there was conclusive evidence that

         22  the toy companies and that you knew there was a

         23  causality between terrible health effects and the

         24  toy companies continue to put them in their toys,

         25  frankly we wouldn't need a law because a trial
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          2  lawyer would come and they would bankrupt your

          3  companies.

          4                 DR. DAVID: Probably so.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And so what

          6  we're here today talking about is precautionary

          7  measure, right? And, so, there are two different

          8  burdens of proof. In other words, if we could prove

          9  that this was harmful today, if there was a child

         10  whose reproductive organs had been permanently

         11  harmed, or a child who had gotten cancer or all the

         12  different things we've talked about, well there

         13  would be tremendous liability here. It's the

         14  testimony, well, we can't prove that yet, and so we

         15  shouldn't act just yet, until we can prove that

         16  actually this will harm children.

         17                 So, let me flip the question. Are you

         18  aware of any evidence that shows that phthalates are

         19  not harmful to infant children?

         20                 DR. DAVID: Infant children?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, that's

         22  what we're talking about here, kids under three.

         23                 DR. DAVID: The only evidence that I

         24  am aware of comes from medical exposures where they

         25  are clearly the highest levels that children are
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          2  exposed to, and that study demonstrated a lack of

          3  effect.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: What study is

          5  that?

          6                 DR. DAVID: It was a study conducted

          7  by the National Children's Hospital, it was

          8  published in Environmental Health Perspectives about

          9  2005. The first author was Race Bohemi --

         10                 MS. STANLEY: Baremi (phonetic).

         11                 DR. DAVID: Baremi, thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And it's your

         13  recollection of that study that it concludes that

         14  phthalates are not harmful to the health of infant

         15  children?

         16                 DR. DAVID: No, it said that it could

         17  not find any adverse effect.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm asking you

         19  actually the opposite question. See, in other words,

         20  for a mom buying a toy, she's not sitting on a big

         21  bank account to go out and try and find out if this

         22  is harmful to her child by toy companies, which is,

         23  you know, multi-billion dollar industry, and the

         24  chemical companies are multi-billion dollar

         25  industries, it's in their best interest to prove
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          2  that these are not harmful to children. Are you

          3  aware of any studies that have gone on to prove that

          4  these are not harmful to children?

          5                 DR. DAVID: Well, let me ask you the

          6  question --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, I ask the

          8  questions. That's how it works here. I ask

          9  questions, you give answers.

         10                 DR. DAVID: Well, I can't answer the

         11  question unless you clarify --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'll be glad to

         13  clarify.

         14                 DR. DAVID: -- What is it that you

         15  require in terms of proof.

         16                 I mean, one can say that I can treat

         17  a small population of individuals and find no

         18  adverse effect; is that truth conclusive? Well, what

         19  about the 20 individuals that I haven't treated or

         20  that I haven't examined?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, I mean,

         22  that's exactly it. It's my position that it would be

         23  in a toy company's best interest, and I'm sure smart

         24  people have thought about this before me, to prove

         25  that this is not harmful. And I imagine that you
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          2  have tried to provide it's not harmful. And, so, I'm

          3  asking for evidence that this is not harmful to

          4  children under three. And, so, you don't have to

          5  give it to me today. If you have that evidence this

          6  is not harmful to children under three years old,

          7  I'd like to have it.

          8                 I guess my next question is, maybe

          9  you could provide me with the American Chemistry

         10  Council's record on -- how long has the American

         11  Chemistry Council been around?

         12                 MS. STANLEY: Well, American Chemistry

         13  Council itself has been around, it's the oldest US

         14  trade organization, so the Association itself has

         15  been around now, I believe it's about 135 years.

         16  Phthalate Esters Panel has been around 34 years.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, in 135

         18  years, I'm sure you have a long history of blowing

         19  the whistle on harmful chemicals that are available

         20  to consumers, right?

         21                 MS. STANLEY: Well, the American

         22  Chemistry Council does have a Responsible Care

         23  Program, and in a Responsible Care Program they will

         24  pull chemicals.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I mean, you
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          2  could give me a list of chemicals that you've been

          3  -- look, you know this a lot better than I do, the

          4  science of this, I'm sure that the American

          5  Chemistry Council in 135 years has blown the whistle

          6  on dozens countless chemicals that government didn't

          7  know about until you found it and said wait a

          8  second, this is in children's products, this is in

          9  seniors products, this is something, we've got to be

         10  careful, because we've seen that this is a problem

         11  and we don't want this in toys or whatever it may

         12  be, you have a long, good record of blowing the

         13  whistle on these things?

         14                 MS. STANLEY: I will let Stephen

         15  answer that. I am, quite frankly, a phthalate issue

         16  specialist, and in my 17 years at the Council I have

         17  done nothing but phthalate esters.

         18                 MR. ROSARIO: Well, in terms of

         19  blowing the whistle, Councilman, I'm not quite sure

         20  what you're driving at, but certainly we have worked

         21  with federal governments, we have worked with State

         22  governments, where there are issues we will work

         23  with those governments to deal with them.

         24                 Those issues have to be based on

         25  something that is reliable, where there is
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          2  evidentiary facts that can prove that a compound

          3  should not be on the market.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm trying to

          5  ascertain what the role of the American Chemistry

          6  Council is. Is it a scientific group? Is it an

          7  industry advocacy group? You know, what is your

          8  role? Who is your client? And how do you see your

          9  purpose in this debate?

         10                 And, so, when I hear that it's the

         11  Chemistry Council, I imagine they're experts in

         12  chemistry, and that at some point in 135 years, you

         13  knew, not you personally, you don't look 135, but

         14  your company, your Council knew that there was

         15  something out there that was harmful, and then went

         16  forward proactively to a government agency, whether

         17  it be a federal or state or municipal regulatory

         18  body and said, hey, folks, we've come across this,

         19  our scientists have seen this, you should be aware

         20  of some of these consequences. We may not know

         21  enough, but you should take a look at this. Or this

         22  may be legislation. But what I'm hearing is that

         23  you're actually on the other side. There has to be a

         24  regulatory response, and then you refute the

         25  regulatory response or try to work and shape the
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          2  regulation.

          3                 MR. ROSARIO: No, that's incorrect.

          4  First of all, we are an association. We represent

          5  companies that are as large as international

          6  companies, and everything down the line to mom and

          7  pop companies and everything in between. Yes, we are

          8  an advocacy organization, but our advocacy is based

          9  on many of the people that we have within the agency

         10  who are scientists, toxicologists, chemists, and we

         11  are advocates based on the science, based on the

         12  science where we work with NIH, or Consumer Product

         13  Safety Commission, it is a collaborative effort.

         14                 MS. STANLEY: Just a comment, as far

         15  as just being reactive, that's not necessarily true.

         16  Yes, we can be reactive, however, there is a part of

         17  TSCA, Toxic Substance Control Act, called Section

         18  AE. So, if a test is conducted, whoever is

         19  conducting that test, if you see a new adverse

         20  effect, you are required by law to report that

         21  within, it's 15 working days. So, yes, our panels

         22  are separately funded panels, which is where

         23  research is conducted primarily within the Council,

         24  will have to file those reports. So, we do have to

         25  do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, it

          3  shouldn't be difficult then to help me find in your

          4  history the chemicals that you have said should be

          5  -- that are harmful. In other words, you're doing

          6  tests all the time.

          7                 You see, you know, the point is, I'm

          8  trying to establish a credibility of the American

          9  Chemistry Council. That's what I'm trying to

         10  establish. You know if your clients are chemical

         11  companies, and if you have 135-year history of

         12  telling us your chemicals are safe, no matter what

         13  chemicals any legislative body tries to regulate,

         14  well then that, frankly, would cloud your

         15  credibility. If you have 135-year history of coming

         16  forward and saying, folks, this is a dangerous

         17  chemical and you should be aware of it, then that

         18  would certainly change things.

         19                 DR. DAVID: Well, I guess I can tell

         20  you from the public literature on phthalate esters

         21  that a great number of those published articles,

         22  particularly the early ones, came all from industry.

         23  Industry was the one who described testicular

         24  affects, industry was the one that described

         25  developmental affects, industry was the one who
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          2  conducted chronic toxicity studies and tried to

          3  identify the mechanism of action.

          4                 It's certainly not true that industry

          5  does not conduct studies to evaluate the safety of

          6  their materials, and it's not just a matter of the

          7  safety of their materials but also going beyond to

          8  understand how those materials act in animal models,

          9  and to see if those are applicable to humans. We do

         10  that all the time. And when we find an adverse

         11  affect, yes, we do have to report it to the EPA.

         12                 MS. STANLEY: We have worked in

         13  conjunction with the EPA with enforceable consent

         14  agreements doing testing that we have been required

         15  to report to them. We've done that. We've worked

         16  with them in the significant new use rule process,

         17  looking at various chemicals to determine if a

         18  proposed use of the material is safe.

         19                 Currently the phthalate esters panel

         20  right now is working with the EPA, and the EPA is

         21  going to do this anyway, we voluntarily went to them

         22  and said, look, you're doing some sludge sampling,

         23  you're going to publicly owned treatment works, we'd

         24  like to partner with you. You've got the money to

         25  analyze for one phthalate, we will partner with you
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          2  and analyze for, oh, about 13, and we'll give you

          3  all that data that we've now enriched your database,

          4  and so as you look to make regulations about how

          5  this treated sludge can be used, you'll know more

          6  about phthalates than you do now. As Steve said,

          7  it's a lot of collaborative.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I appreciate

          9  that. The one thing I will say about the EPA and,

         10  you know, again, I agree with Mr. -- Gosh, I'm

         11  sorry, I don't have everyone's name in front of me,

         12  Mr. Rosario, the statement, that, listen, government

         13  is filled with good people, it's their leaders that

         14  I have question with, not the government workers

         15  themselves, and I'll say EPA does not have a very

         16  good record in this City of telling people when

         17  chemicals are safe. You know, the daily newspapers

         18  this week are filled with ample evidence of that.

         19  But in any case I do really appreciate your

         20  testimony and I thank you for coming down, and I

         21  look forward to working with you on this

         22  legislation. Thank you.

         23                 MR. ROSARIO: Unfortunately the media

         24  will always focus on the leaders, we never get to

         25  see the people who work behind the scenes, the
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          2  scientists and whatnot, they're the ones who are

          3  doing the work. A lot of the same people that we

          4  work with, unfortunately the cameras are never on

          5  them. It's always further up.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: It's true. I

          7  just want to be clear, the American people don't

          8  trust many big companies for a good reason. And they

          9  don't trust the federal government for a good reason

         10  many times.

         11                 I could think of, gosh, we all

         12  laughed at the movie Thank You For Smoking, I think

         13  we laughed because it was so true. And there is a

         14  number of industries that we could think of where

         15  executives have stood up and sworn before Congress,

         16  where it's by the way a federal crime to tell

         17  something less than the truth, that everything from

         18  tobacco to God knows what, there was no evidence

         19  that it was harmful. So, I think there is a real

         20  concern throughout the country that the federal

         21  government has not done its job in fully protecting

         22  citizens.

         23                 And, so, I appreciate that, but I

         24  don't necessarily blame the workers, I do blame the

         25  higher ups. So, thank you.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Council

          3  Member Sears.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

          5  much. I'm just going to be very, very brief, having

          6  raised three children and five grandchildren, I've

          7  gone from teething rings to GI Joe and a few other

          8  things, and I have to say that during that process I

          9  absolutely depended on the work that all of you did,

         10  because it condensed a lot of what I had to do, and

         11  what I looked at and what I knew what to look for in

         12  doing that. It seems I've raised a daughter that

         13  seems to do the same thing, only she has stretched

         14  it a lot further than I have.

         15                 So, just two very brief questions,

         16  and then, Madam Chair, I really do have to leave.

         17                 Is that when the testing is done and

         18  you look for no effect, we do that in all

         19  environmental studies, so I'll just refer to your

         20  studies as an environmental one, when there is no

         21  effect, it means that we don't need any mitigation,

         22  we don't need to correct anything, and it's okay to

         23  proceed with the project. So, may I interpret that

         24  that when you, with all these enormous studies that

         25  you have done and continue to do, that when you have
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          2  no effect, rather than saying it's not harmful, you

          3  are saying because there is no effect you continue

          4  doing what you're doing and there is no reason to

          5  change course; am I correct in maybe assessing it

          6  that way?

          7                 MS. STANLEY: Let me talk a little bit

          8  about our regulatory process, in that for you to

          9  have a valid test in our regulatory system, you've

         10  got to show an effect. Now, because of the ethics,

         11  the cost, the difficulty, just the enormity of

         12  working with animals, you don't test one, two,

         13  three, four, five milligrams per kilogram, you may

         14  go one, ten, 100, 1,000. Typically what you see

         15  happen is you may see the effect at 1,000 and then

         16  no effect at 100, but that effect really happens

         17  somewhere between 100 and 1,000, you just don't know

         18  where.

         19                 What our regulatory system then says

         20  is, okay, let's go to the no effect level of 100.

         21  What we're trying to do now is very typically we'll

         22  apply a safety factor of ten for inter-species

         23  difference, we'll then apply another safety factor

         24  to go from adults to children, and then sometimes,

         25  depending on the chemical or depending on the use of
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          2  that particular, they may add a third safety factor

          3  to it, anywhere from a level of three to ten, that

          4  kind of level. So, we go to that no effect and then

          5  reduce it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And in the

          7  various studies that are done, and so many, and I

          8  think you quoted how many have been done over in

          9  time and you have that in your head, and it's great

         10  because I agree with the Councilman you do not need

         11  notes because you know your stuff, that's why, the

         12  fact is that, are there variables that happen in

         13  this myriad of studies that cause you to adjust that

         14  level of no effect? I mean, recognizing how studies

         15  are done and the variables that are in them, and one

         16  may look for this variable and another variable may

         17  pop up, is ever in those studies, ever anything that

         18  has popped up that would cause to say let's look at

         19  that, let's watch that, let's look and continue to

         20  study that particular thing.

         21                 DR. DAVID: Absolutely. Otherwise we

         22  would do one study and that would be the end of it.

         23                 Science continually probes further,

         24  and probes further in identifying new end points to

         25  evaluate ways in which end points can be evaluated,
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          2  sometimes species that are used, and so that's why

          3  there are some 1,300 or so articles because it's not

          4  a question of having done one study, finding no

          5  effect and that's it, we continue to evaluate the

          6  science and push the frontiers of the science so

          7  that we are very comfortable about where the effects

          8  take place, what those levels they take place, and

          9  where they have no effect whatsoever.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Switching to

         11  another question that we have the European market, I

         12  believe, or somebody said, have they done this in

         13  Europe?

         14                 DR. DAVID: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

         16  There are countries that are not part of that. Do

         17  you know which countries did not support that in

         18  that part of the system.

         19                 DR. DAVID: Well, what they did in the

         20  European Union is various countries volunteered to

         21  do the risk assessments, and then they were reviewed

         22  by all of the European countries.

         23                 So, for example, Sweden elected to do

         24  DEHP. Denmark did dibutyl phthalate; is that

         25  correct? No, Holland. Holland, sorry. France did
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          2  DINP and DIDP. Norway just finished

          3  butylbenzylphthalate. Did I miss anything? And so

          4  what happens is these countries are the ones that

          5  focused on gathering all of the information, going

          6  through the procedures of evaluating the effects in

          7  animals, and those levels, or exposure levels in

          8  humans, identifying exposure scenarios.

          9                 Now, for example, what if somebody

         10  had a material like DEP in perfume, how much would a

         11  person be exposed to it if they sprayed it on,

         12  versus just putting it on. Things like that.

         13                 And then those assessments are

         14  reviewed by all of the European countries within the

         15  European Union, so as many as are in the European

         16  Union at the time, so maybe, there may be countries

         17  who for political reasons have elected not to

         18  participate, but usually all of them are there. And

         19  then they all decide on what the results are.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         21  much. I have to say just a comment --

         22                 MR. ROSARIO: Can I add something?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

         24                 MR. ROSARIO: I'd like to just add, we

         25  do hear a lot about the European Union, and I think

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  that's a very good example of where the public

          3  policy ran ahead of the science. Because it is

          4  correct, the EU did take some action. There was a

          5  lot of political pressure for them to take action.

          6  But at the same time, there were risk assessments

          7  and studies underway. A year after the ban became

          8  permanent, their very own science came out and said

          9  there is no problem. So, their science does not even

         10  support the decision, the public policy decision

         11  that the EU made.

         12                 And I think that that is a danger,

         13  where a decision should be based on something, and

         14  now it would be very difficult to reverse that.

         15                 So, again, I think that's the

         16  cautionary tale, where what have you accomplished

         17  except maybe hurting some businesses, which some

         18  people may or may no agree with.

         19                 But, again, I think that's where

         20  taking precautionary positions based on some

         21  evidence. I just wanted to clarify, I don't think we

         22  really talked about it. Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And that's an

         24  important point, because legislation is basically

         25  designed to protect people, and that is based, it's
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          2  not frivolous, and we don't shoot from the hip to do

          3  that, it's based on the very things that you're

          4  talking about, and that's responsible legislation.

          5                 But one great thing about our system

          6  is we can all sit here and some of us may disagree

          7  but the objective is all the same.

          8                 I happen to, and I've lived in Europe

          9  for a long time, and I happen to think, being very

         10  nationalistic, that we have probably some of the

         11  strongest regulations almost relating to everything,

         12  except where it comes to the environment, we seem to

         13  be catching up with that, that do a great deal for

         14  the protection of our citizenry. And I agree with

         15  you when you said it's amazing we still have a toy

         16  industry in the City of New York, because we, in

         17  government, seem to have done everything to see that

         18  it moved out, I didn't agree with, and hopefully we

         19  will be able to keep those that are here to stay,

         20  and also to get those to come back. And I think that

         21  you are very strong advocates for being fair and

         22  reasonable and being very scientific about it, so I

         23  thank you. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank

         25  you, Council.
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          2                 And thank you, Ms. Stanley, Dr. David

          3  and Mr. Rosario, and the American Chemistry Council,

          4  for the work that you do, and for staying this long

          5  to give testimony and to provide us with information

          6  based on science. Thank you, again.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Madam Chair,

          8  I just have one question.

          9                 Awhile ago the doctor from, I think

         10  it's from Mount Sinai, she gave us a card to look at

         11  and she had the different types of plastic and she

         12  said the safer plastics are 1, 2, 4, and 5. And they

         13  are saying the one to avoid is 3, 6 and 7. What is

         14  that based on?

         15                 MR. ROSARIO: That's a very good

         16  question, Councilman, and thank you very much for

         17  asking it.

         18                 First of all, let me start with the

         19  proposition that 1 through 7s are all safe. We would

         20  be able to put any of those plastics on the market

         21  if they weren't. Again, go back to the various

         22  agencies, whether it's FDA or Consumer Products, or

         23  EPA or Department of Agriculture, et cetera, et

         24  cetera. The issue with the 1s through 7 is that

         25  there have been mechanisms and infrastructure for
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          2  the recycling of 1s and 2s. It becomes a little bit

          3  more difficult for the others. But, again, 1 through

          4  7 is not a safety number, it is a resin

          5  identification code, which allows, if I'm a

          6  recycler, and New York City really has a terrific

          7  recycling program, and we have been fortunate enough

          8  to work with the various administrations on that

          9  program. It is to allow your recycler, and I forget

         10  the name of the company that's doing your work here

         11  in the City, to identify the various plastics,

         12  again, we can't mix them. A 1 has to go to a 1, a 2

         13  a 2, a 3 a 3, a 4 a 4, et cetera, et cetera. I think

         14  the bottom line is that there are just some people

         15  who don't like certain plastics. So, it's very easy

         16  to say, oh, this is a bad one. But it's bad because?

         17  And the because always becomes kind of fuzzy when

         18  you start to probe a little bit. But that's what the

         19  1 through 7 actually means.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Well,

         21  basically I was going to do a test. I was going out

         22  to look at plastics and say let me look and see the

         23  sign and see which one is the 1 or 2 and then see

         24  what makes it safe and what makes it unsafe. And I

         25  still can't get a answer what makes it safe or
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          2  unsafe.

          3                 MR. ROSARIO: Well, again I go back to

          4  the proposition that they're all safe. I'll give you

          5  some examples. Number one is your soda bottle.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          7                 MR. ROSARIO: What are you asking your

          8  soda bottle to do to keep the carbonation in.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         10                 MR. ROSARIO: So that's what PET does.

         11                 Number 2 is your milk jug. What are

         12  you asking your milk jug to do? Keep ultraviolet

         13  light out so that the milk stays safe.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         15                 MR. ROSARIO: A number 3 is PVC. What

         16  is PVC? It can be anything from vinyl siding to the

         17  blister pack that is used in stores to protect

         18  products from either theft or it's the one that

         19  people always complain is so hard to open. Again,

         20  there is a reason we've been asked to do that.

         21                 Number six is polystyrene, which is

         22  your foam tray.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The packing

         24  and all those things?

         25                 MR. ROSARIO: I'm sorry?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: The packing.

          3  Like what you use --

          4                 MR. ROSARIO: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So, really,

          6  in essence, they all have different type of uses.

          7                 MR. ROSARIO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          9  But it's not -- I can't see comparing the plastic

         10  that you use for the bottle with the milk, and for

         11  the pipes you use, the plastic you use or the pipe,

         12  I can't compare them, it's two different type of

         13  plastics. So, I wouldn't say avoid that type of

         14  plastic, because you need that for that purpose.

         15                 MR. ROSARIO: Exactly. What are we

         16  asking plastics to do. Another great example is

         17  tephlar (phonetic), which is used in bulletproof

         18  vests, which are being used by police officers here

         19  in New York City and by the men and women in the

         20  armed forces in Iraq and Afghanistan. Again, what do

         21  we ask that plastic to do? And once you start

         22  playing around with the chemistry, when you try and

         23  change that chemistry, that's when you start to

         24  degrade, or potentially degrade the performance.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I want to
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          2  thank you for your testimony. I've learned a great

          3  deal. Thank you.

          4                 MR. ROSARIO: I appreciate it.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Mr.

          6  Rosario, just to be a little truthful here, that's

          7  Dr. Council Member Kendall Stewart.

          8                 MR. ROSARIO: Oh, my apologies.

          9  Doctor, yes. My apologies.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: But just

         11  one quick question. Some plastics, though, are not

         12  conducive for food packaging; is that correct? For

         13  food storage? Did I read that somewhere?

         14                 MR. ROSARIO: Well, when you say "food

         15  storage" --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Where you

         17  store food in your refrigerator and you put it in

         18  various plastic containers to hold, I thought I read

         19  somewhere where certain plastics were not conducive

         20  to foods?

         21                 MS. STANLEY: You know, I can answer

         22  that. I don't know about all the other plastics, but

         23  that's why you don't see, for example, a PVC in, a

         24  plasticized PVC in food storage, because people know

         25  that phthalates are attracted to fats and will pull
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          2  fats out. And, so, the FDA allows use, phthalate

          3  plasticized PVC to be used for food storage, but

          4  only for high-water content foods. And, so, as a

          5  result, practically what that has meant in the

          6  market is that phthalate plasticized vinyl really

          7  isn't used in food storage, used in plastic wrap and

          8  so on.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank you

         10  so much for your testimony.

         11                 Our last group is here to testify in

         12  reference to Intro. 592-A, and that's Mr. Kraushaw

         13  (sic), Mr. Mandelker, and Mrs. Brodhagen. I hope I

         14  pronounced the names correct. Thank you.

         15                 If you have any written testimony to

         16  provide, please give it to the Sergeant-At-Arms. And

         17  Ms. Fellows.

         18                 Please when you start your testimony,

         19  start with your name and identification. Thank you.

         20                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: Madam Chair, thank you

         21  very much. My name is Kevin Kraushaar. I am the Vice

         22  President of Government Relations with the Consumer

         23  Health Care Products Association. We're a national

         24  trade association in Washington, D.C. representing

         25  manufacturers of non-prescription or
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          2  over-the-counter medicines.

          3                 We're here to talk about the

          4  dextromethorphan bill and CHPA is here to testify in

          5  support of part of the proposed ordinance and

          6  opposed to another part of it.

          7                 Essentially dextromethorphan is a

          8  safe and effective OTC ingredient that is found in

          9  over 100 OTC cough and cold products. The product,

         10  the ingredient was first approved by the Food and

         11  Drug Administration in 1954. It's an effective,

         12  non-narcotic cough suppressant that works by raising

         13  the coughing threshold in the brain. It has no

         14  pain-relieving properties and it is not addictive.

         15                 While dextromethorphan or DXM is used

         16  safely by millions of Americans each year to relieve

         17  coughs due to the common cold or the flu, parents

         18  should be aware that some teenagers and young adults

         19  are intentionally abusing large quantities of

         20  dextromethorphan-containing ingredients in an effort

         21  to get high.

         22                 CHPA appreciates the opportunity to

         23  testify on Council Member Baez's proposed ordinance

         24  to restrict the sales of OTC medicines containing

         25  DXM to any person under the age of 18. We support
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          2  age restriction as a way to keep dextromethorphan

          3  out of the hands of teenagers, and we applaud the

          4  efforts and the actions of so many responsible New

          5  York retailers who have already imposed voluntary

          6  age restrictions in their stores.

          7                 Unfortunately, CHPA strongly agrees

          8  (sic) with the provisions which would require

          9  dextromethorphan products to be sold from behind the

         10  counter --

         11                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Disagrees.

         12                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: I'm sorry, disagrees.

         13  Thank you very much. We strongly disagree with that

         14  part of the ordinance which would require the

         15  products to be sold from behind the counter and the

         16  other witnesses here at the table today are much

         17  better equipped to talk about those restrictions.

         18  But essentially we believe that because of obviously

         19  the wide variety of products that are available

         20  estimates anywhere from 100 to 150 products that are

         21  available, even in the Duane-Reade store in the

         22  first floor of this building, that would be an

         23  impossible task. There simply isn't enough room to

         24  put products behind the counter in the average

         25  retail sector.
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          2                 The OTC marketplace is the most

          3  robust marketplace in the entire health care sector

          4  because consumers are in power to make their own

          5  decisions in selecting the products that work best

          6  for themselves and for their families. Moving

          7  dextromethorphan products behind the counter would

          8  greatly reduce the consumer's ability to self select

          9  and significantly diminish the value of OTC medicine

         10  to provide the health care system.

         11                 More importantly, if products are

         12  moved behind the counter, consumers will not have

         13  the ability to read labels, and compare ingredients,

         14  when they make purchasing decisions, requiring a

         15  clerk or a pharmacist to supervise this label

         16  comparison process is unnecessary and a significant

         17  waste of precious health care resources.

         18                 We take very seriously the potential

         19  use and abuse of these types of products, and we

         20  believe very strongly that the best way to solve

         21  that problem is through education and prevention. In

         22  developing our education prevention strategy, we

         23  reached out to the experts, and that is the

         24  Partnership for A Drug Free America, based here in

         25  New York City.
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          2                 CHPA, in conjunction with the

          3  partnership, launched the Rx and OTC Medicine Abuse

          4  Education Campaign in 2006. This multi-year

          5  communications campaign will help parents and

          6  families understand and prevent the abuse of

          7  medicines, including cough medicines containing DXM

          8  by teenagers and young adults.

          9                 Madam Chair, and other members of the

         10  Committee, I'll provide a lengthy assessment of some

         11  of the other programs, the things the CHPA has been

         12  working on with the Partnership for A Drug-Free

         13  America, and rather than stick to the text, let me

         14  just briefly walk through some of the things that we

         15  have available to you, to help you and your

         16  constituents in your districts to provide them,

         17  provide parents with materials they need to talk

         18  about the potential abuse of dextromethorphan.

         19                 First of all, some of the things that

         20  we're doing with Partnership for A Drug-Free America

         21  is distributing television, radio and print service

         22  public service announcements, which I'll leave with

         23  the Committee Counsel, both on a DVD, that shows the

         24  spots that we're working on. There have been some

         25  print ads. I have a copy of one. The rest of them
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          2  are also contained on the DVD. I think, again, it

          3  would be helpful in working with the Council in

          4  making its final decision on this legislation. We're

          5  also disseminating educational brochures

          6  called"Preventing Teen Cough Medicine Abuse," a

          7  Parents Guide, again developed in partnership with

          8  the Partnership for A Drug-Free America. These

          9  brochures are available in English and in Spanish

         10  and can be easily downloaded from our website

         11  chpa.info.org. We are providing parent and

         12  teen-oriented websites, separate websites on DXM

         13  information, and again those websites are also

         14  included in your packets.

         15                 The other important part of the

         16  program that we're working on is working with the

         17  Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America, and

         18  working cooperatively with CHPA and CADCA, have

         19  jointly developed a toolkit called "A Dose of

         20  Prevention." Again, doseofprevention.org toolkit can

         21  be downloaded for any community group, for any

         22  community organization, parents groups, teachers

         23  groups, anybody else who wants to use them, and

         24  we're happy to provide as many of these packets as

         25  we possibly can.
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          2                 Senator Joe Biden recently introduced

          3  in the US Senate a resolution declaring August to be

          4  National Medicine Abuse Awareness Month, and we're

          5  working with CADCA all over the country to do town

          6  halls and educational programs around the country to

          7  let parents know there is a problem out there and

          8  they should be talking to their kids about the

          9  potential medicine abuse. Again, all of those

         10  materials could be easily obtained through CHPA and

         11  we're happy to provide as much material as we

         12  possibly can.

         13                 I'm happy to report, too, that

         14  Senator Biden's resolution passed the full US Senate

         15  on Tuesday of this week, and we are happy to work

         16  with anyone who wants to work to roll out new

         17  programs to address the abuse issue at the local

         18  level.

         19                 Madam Chair, I would submit the rest

         20  of my comments for the record, the other programs

         21  that we're working on, the other folks that want to

         22  talk about what will happen at the retail sector,

         23  but, again, CHPA stands ready to assist any member

         24  of the New York City Council or any other group that

         25  wants to address medicine abuse, substance abuse,
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          2  potential of dextromethorphan products at the

          3  community level, and we stand ready to assist. Thank

          4  you very much.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank

          6  you. Thank you so much, Mr., is it Kraushaar?

          7                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: Kraushaar.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS:

          9  Kraushaar. Thank you.

         10                 Ms. Brodhagen.

         11                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Thank you. Good

         12  afternoon. My name is Pat Brodhagen. I'm the Vice

         13  President of Public Affairs for the Food Industry

         14  Alliance of New York State, and who that is, is the

         15  Trade Association that represents grocery stores.

         16  So, in the City we're pretty much everybody that you

         17  think of as a conventional supermarket, from a big

         18  Pathmark or a Shoprite or a Stop and Shop down to a

         19  Sea Town or a Bravo or an Associated, a Pioneer, and

         20  everybody in between, the Gristides and the Key

         21  Foods and the D'Agostinos, et cetera. So, that's who

         22  we are.

         23                 And I also want to address the issue

         24  of DXM restriction. Obviously you had some expert

         25  testimony earlier today from the Health Department
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          2  and it's clearly up to the Committee to determine

          3  whether there is sufficient evidence of a problem

          4  here in New York City with DXM abuse, or whether

          5  this particular approach is the way to go, or

          6  whether the City has the resources to enforce it.

          7  What I want to do is just share with you the

          8  operational problems at the retail level with

          9  implementing something like this, and there is two

         10  pieces. One is the requirement that we would have to

         11  card essentially anybody under the age of 18, or who

         12  looks like they're 25 or less, to be sure they're of

         13  age to purchase the product, and the other is to

         14  keep the product, to limit access of customers to

         15  the product.

         16                 In terms of the age restriction, it's

         17  going to be practically a hard thing to get going.

         18  We have experience obviously with age restriction

         19  because we sell beer and we sell tobacco -- most of

         20  us actually don't sell tobacco anymore, but a lot,

         21  you know, some still do. But the thing about those

         22  two products are, you sort of know what they are.

         23  The issue with cough and cold medicines with DXM in

         24  it is that you don't really know which those are.

         25  They all have to be identified, and you have heard
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          2  there is over 100 of them. So, we've got to start

          3  with putting together, somebody is going to have to

          4  put together some kind of a list and identify what

          5  those products are exactly.

          6                 It's not the kind of thing that can

          7  be left up to each individual clerk every time

          8  they're doing, you know, checking something out to

          9  see if it's one of these items. So, it's not at all

         10  the same as the other age restrictive products. It's

         11  a much broader category, and one that retailers

         12  would need assistance with in identify just exactly

         13  what it is that they're being asked to control.

         14                 And in addition to that, then we have

         15  to find ways to assure compliance in a big store

         16  with cash -- with scanners. The obvious way would be

         17  to flag each and every product so that when it goes

         18  through a flag would pop up and the clerk would know

         19  that this is something that he or she would have to

         20  ask for age verification.

         21                 That can be done but it will take

         22  some time to do. We have to reprogram all of that

         23  equipment, and that's not an easy thing. It seems

         24  like maybe that would be, but as one of my members

         25  said, it is not so simple as flipping a switch. It
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          2  requires going in and reprogramming all of the

          3  equipment and being able to find a way then to alert

          4  the cashier so that they will in fact check age and

          5  not find themselves in violation.

          6                 If you don't have that kind of

          7  technology, if you're a much smaller store, a

          8  convenience store or a smaller neighborhood store,

          9  then you're going to have to figure out another way

         10  to be sure to flag those products, and know which

         11  they are and to check them, be sure that you are

         12  checking for age.

         13                 So, you know, it's going to rely on

         14  looking at labels and people are going to want to

         15  check out in a hurry and not have the patience to

         16  stand there. So, we're going to be prone to

         17  mistakes. So, we'd certainly -- I guess what I'm

         18  saying is it's not as easy as it would appear to put

         19  in place an age restriction on a category of

         20  products this broad.

         21                 The second piece is even more

         22  problematic for, and for our customers, and that's

         23  restricting customer access to it. It would require,

         24  we say putting it behind the counter, and the

         25  problem there is, where is the counter that you're
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          2  going to put it behind, and how much space do you

          3  have there. And, again, that's going to vary by the

          4  size of the store where that would be and how much

          5  space do they have, but in no case did they have as

          6  much space behind the counter as they have currently

          7  out on the shelf, and, so, at a minimum it will

          8  certainly limit the variety of products available to

          9  customers. It's just no way that we could continue

         10  to stock the same array of cough and cold medicines

         11  and keep them behind a counter as we can on a shelf.

         12  And moreover, it limits the customer's ability to

         13  make a choice about what's the correct cough and

         14  cold medicine for them to get and I think that's the

         15  piece that's maybe the most problematic, because,

         16  and you mentioned this as well, as it's behind the

         17  counter, the customer is not going to have the

         18  opportunity to read those labels and determine just

         19  exactly what product they're looking for and what

         20  addresses the symptoms they are having at that

         21  particular time, they may want this and not that,

         22  they may want it to have a pain reliever, or they

         23  may not want it, and they're certainly going to want

         24  to compare prices as well. And those are all things

         25  that you can't really do if you can't see and handle
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          2  the product. Instead you have to ask for it, and you

          3  may well not know even what you're asking for.

          4                 If a store has an in-store pharmacy,

          5  which some of our members do, not all but some do,

          6  that would be the appropriate location probably to

          7  put something like this behind the counter, but then

          8  in addition to all those problems I just mentioned

          9  having to do with space and access on the part of

         10  the consumer to the information, there is the limit

         11  of time. Because in most cases in the supermarket,

         12  the pharmacy hours are not the same as the store

         13  hours, so there would be time periods during which

         14  there would be no access to the full array of

         15  products when the pharmacy was closed.

         16                 So, for those two reasons, we would

         17  find implementation of this difficult and

         18  problematic and not really customer friendly. And I

         19  would agree that the educational approach makes a

         20  lot of sense and we actually have some of these

         21  brochures from CHPA, and this one happens to be a

         22  Pathmark brochure, that's on the back, but where

         23  stores have made them available, either at their

         24  courtesy counters or their pharmacy counters as a

         25  public service to alert people to the potential for
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          2  abuse. And, so, we certainly support a partnership

          3  along those lines, an educational partnership. We

          4  would be 100 percent on board with such an effort.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 Ms. Fellows.

          9                 MS. FELLOWS: I'm Anne Fellows. I'm

         10  with the National Association of Chain Drug Stores.

         11  In recognition that it's been a long day, I will say

         12  what my colleagues have said, we concur with.

         13  Something to keep in mind with this product is there

         14  is no substitute for DXM for over-the-counter cough

         15  medicine, so if you take this off the shelf and put

         16  it behind the counter, there is nothing else for the

         17  people to choose from. They will have to go up and

         18  have this added step, as opposed to other products

         19  that have been talked about earlier where there was

         20  a substitute that was available out in the public,

         21  and people are going to feel hesitant going up there

         22  and saying can I see this one, can I see this one,

         23  can I see this one.

         24                 The other thing I would like to point

         25  out is several of our members have taken a voluntary
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          2  approach. They have instituted age restriction. But

          3  each one has approached it differently. Each one has

          4  looked at it at a different way. And what we have

          5  found is that the voluntary approach is working.

          6  We're not, you know, you heard the statistics for

          7  New York City, we feel that that is the way to go.

          8  We feel that the education needs to go beyond cough

          9  syrup and DXM. There is a whole range of products

         10  that teens in their infinite wisdom have decided to

         11  try and excess. I have two teenagers, there's more

         12  of this in my testimony.

         13                 We think you have to look at the

         14  broader picture and education is the key to success.

         15  So, while we applaud the goal of reducing the

         16  inappropriate use of this medicine by teenagers, we

         17  think that an education approach that is broader

         18  than just this issue can maybe address the solution

         19  better.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank you

         22  so much, Ms. Fellows.

         23                 Mr. Mandelker.

         24                 MR. MANDELKER: Thank you, Madam

         25  Chair.
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          2                 I'm testifying today on behalf of

          3  NYMRA, the New York Metropolitan Retail Association.

          4  NYMRA is an organization consisting primarily of

          5  national chain retailers operating in the City. May

          6  I just say on a personal level what a pleasure it is

          7  for me to be testifying before a Committee of which

          8  you are the Chair, because when I was a younger man,

          9  I knew your father and your uncle and I admired both

         10  of them.

         11                 With respect to Intro. 589, because

         12  I'd like to testify on both. I have just a little

         13  bit on 589. Everything I know about phthalates I

         14  learned sitting in the audience today. But I wrote

         15  my testimony before knowing anything about it, and I

         16  think my testimony is relevant even after,

         17  particularly after all the testimony; and that is,

         18  my members want to know is a ban necessary, or could

         19  the problem, if there is a problem, be handled by

         20  labeling. And secondly, whatever this body decides

         21  to do and the Council decides to do, if you enact a

         22  ban, will we be able to sell off our inventory, or

         23  will we have to throw out our inventory?

         24                 So, those are issues that we'd like

         25  the members to consider as you study the
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          2  legislation.

          3                 Now, with respect to DXM, Intro.

          4  592-A would solely burden retailers with the task of

          5  trying to prevent the abuse of safe, highly

          6  effective over-the-counter products containing DXM.

          7                 Some of our members sell these

          8  products, but many of them do not.

          9                 Even so, NYMRA is troubled by the

         10  implications in the bill, and is therefore

         11  constrained to voice its opposition.

         12                 I'm going to skip over chunks of my

         13  testimony describing DXM because you've already

         14  heard it, you can read it.

         15                 Modern retailing has adapted to our

         16  faster on-the-go culture. Customers are looking for

         17  speed, ease and convenience. They want to be in and

         18  out of stores as fast as possible. But those who

         19  want to read labels want to be able to read labels

         20  without impeding other shoppers shopping, and we're

         21  in the business of trying to please our customers.

         22                 Intro. 592-A would force retailers to

         23  reverse that trend. None of the 120 different

         24  over-the-counter products that contain DXM would be

         25  accessible to customers in open displays. As a
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          2  practical matter, these products would have to be

          3  stored and sold from behind drug counters as if they

          4  were prescription drugs. Retailers would have to

          5  create or enlarge drug counter space, reduce their

          6  open shelf capacity, and staff their drug counters

          7  with extra employees.

          8                 Products containing DXM are

          9  inherently different from cigarettes, alcohol and

         10  even products containing pseudoephedrine. Society

         11  has decided that the use of cigarettes and alcohol

         12  by minors is inherently unsafe. Even so, beer is

         13  available in open displays. In contrast, products

         14  containing DXM are highly beneficial and can be

         15  safely taken by minors.

         16                 PSE, the pseudoephedrine, is the

         17  primary ingredient of metamphetamine, a highly

         18  addictive drug often associated with crime. In

         19  addition, meth's by-products are highly flammable

         20  and highly toxic, and abuse is not physically

         21  addictive.

         22                 Some of our members who sell these

         23  products already implement voluntary restrictions on

         24  under-age buyers, because of the size of national

         25  chains, when customers check out, we can label the
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          2  products and the label prompts the cashier to ask

          3  for ID. But should retailers be forced to put

          4  cashiers, some of whom are minors themselves, in the

          5  position of policing and checking IDs for so many

          6  different products. Will customer abide the long

          7  checkout lines that will result?

          8                 Finally, one must always consider the

          9  long-term implications of governmental action. That

         10  is the proverbial slippery slope. Today we're

         11  discussing whether the sale of products containing

         12  DXM should be restricted. Tomorrow it will be glue,

         13  or paint or rubbing alcohol, all of which can be

         14  abused by minors. Then it will be screw drivers,

         15  steak knives, scissors, wrenches and baseball bats,

         16  all of which can be used to create mayhem or commit

         17  crimes, or any of the other products that the

         18  Transportation Safety Administration won't let you

         19  take on an airplane.

         20                 Minors and those who care for them

         21  must be warned of the dangers they face if they

         22  abuse products containing DXM. An educational

         23  campaign involving parents, teachers, clergy,

         24  community leaders, such as yourselves, PSAs and

         25  appropriate labeling should be conducted and perhaps
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          2  even mandated.

          3                 Thank you very much for listening to

          4  all of us thank you for being so patient, for

          5  listening to all the witnesses who appeared here.

          6  It's a long day, you were all very attentive and the

          7  questions were very sharp and very focused and we as

          8  advocates appreciate the fact that when we speak,

          9  people listen, they respond and they hear us. Thank

         10  you, again.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank you

         12  so much, Mr. Mandelker. And I have a few questions.

         13                 Ms. Fellows, many stores in the

         14  pharmacies, including smaller stores, have already

         15  placed restrictions on the sale of DXM products, by

         16  placing them behind cash registers or behind locked

         17  cabinets. Why do you perceive that if we enact

         18  legislation that that would be such a negative

         19  impact on business, since many stores already do

         20  that?

         21                 MS. FELLOWS: Well, again, I speak for

         22  all the stores, I can't speak for the individual

         23  members, and some of them have taken the approach.

         24  I'm not aware of anyone that has placed all of their

         25  products containing DXM behind the counter. There
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          2  have been isolated cases where if there is a problem

          3  of theft a particular product might be put behind

          4  the counter. But that's not just DXM, that's

          5  anything. It is an individual store policy,

          6  depending upon the location.

          7                 So, that's the only case that I'm

          8  aware of where that's being put behind the counter

          9  at all.

         10                 And I would say that what our stores

         11  have tried to do is be responsible, and in some

         12  cases they do have this flagging mechanism where

         13  they can program their computer, where they're aware

         14  that there is a general public concern. They have

         15  made it clear members have done that. But for the

         16  smaller stores, as Pat pointed out, this is very

         17  burdensome. They don't have these mechanisms, they

         18  don't have these computers, and the fines are pretty

         19  hefty, $250 for a first offense, even if you've done

         20  all of these things. That's very burdensome on a

         21  store to be faced with this. So, that's I'd say the

         22  individual cases.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 Ms. Brodhagen, do most cough
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          2  suppressants have DXM listed as part of their

          3  ingredients?

          4                 MS. BRODHAGEN: You should really ask

          5  the CHPA. I'm pretty sure it's on the label.

          6                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: Madam Chair, clearly

          7  dextromethorphan is on any label as required by the

          8  Food and Drug Administration. The standards by which

          9  drugs are labeled is very specific. Quite clearly,

         10  as has already been testified by Anne Fellows,

         11  dextromethorphan is the only over-the-counter cough

         12  suppressant on the market today. There is no

         13  substitute, there is nothing else. So, if

         14  dextromethorphan is put behind the counter, that

         15  means all of the wide variety of products, and that

         16  would include all kinds of combinations with

         17  analgesics, with antihistamines, with decongestions,

         18  anything that is out there, all of those products,

         19  and it's a wide variety available to consumers, that

         20  would have to go behind the counter.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Well,

         22  since it is listed as an ingredient, and since

         23  already if age verification is a requirement for

         24  alcohol and tobacco, why would this added product be

         25  such a cumbersome and negative impact?
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          2                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: That question I would

          3  punt back to the retailers. Again, CHPA has said

          4  that we --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: I'm very

          6  glad to give it --

          7                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: We support age

          8  restrictions.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: I just

         10  wanted to be sure about that labeling.

         11                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: Yes.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Ms.

         13  Fellows.

         14                 MS. FELLOWS: I think for the reasons

         15  that you've heard outlined by Larry and by Pat, it's

         16  one more product to be monitoring, whereas we think

         17  we are controlling the product, we have where we

         18  think it's appropriate set up a voluntary program,

         19  some of our larger members have such a program, CVS

         20  just announced this month they went nationwide with

         21  a program. So, the members that have the capacity to

         22  flag it are doing so.

         23                 What we're talking about is the

         24  smaller members where you have, as you heard a

         25  cashier could be a minor themselves working, and
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          2  where it would require the manager having to come

          3  over, approve the sale, that slows things down, and

          4  that's why some of our members have not gone that

          5  route. And it is the only -- if you send a child

          6  because you're home with your sick child, and you

          7  send an older sibling to go buy the cough medicine,

          8  they couldn't do it under this. Somebody over 18

          9  would have to go make the purchase.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Mr.

         11  Mandelker, that is true, but since public health

         12  would be a primary concern, and since in some

         13  instances in a grocery store where beer is sold is

         14  where tobacco products are sold, minors may be at

         15  the cash register but still the law is enforced,

         16  that there is age verification necessary. I don't

         17  quite understand why that still would be so

         18  cumbersome.

         19                 MR. MANDELKER: I don't think it will

         20  be cumbersome on the cashiers, particularly in our

         21  stores. We're national chains. Our position is that

         22  speaking of the retail industry in general, not the

         23  chains who have voluntarily decided to do this, that

         24  it's one thing if you're dealing with beer and soda,

         25  because society and various levels of government
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          2  have decided that it is illegal, it is unsafe, not

          3  just illegal, it is unsafe for minors to ingest

          4  these products. We don't want children smoking, we

          5  don't want children drinking alcohol. Maybe that's

          6  aspirational but that's where we are. With products

          7  with DXM, these are safe products if used properly,

          8  and most people use them properly. So, that's one

          9  thing.

         10                 Second thing is beer and cigarettes,

         11  you know what they are. The challenges, let me see

         12  your ID, let me talk to the manager, are relatively

         13  few and far between. In our stores, generally they

         14  don't sell food, although a target will sell food,

         15  but in our stores you think of all the products,

         16  there are tablets, there are gels, there are

         17  gelcaps, there are things that you squeeze out,

         18  there are caplets, it's 120 different things, what's

         19  going to happen is that on each transaction you're

         20  going to have to check an ID. And we don't think,

         21  NYMRA as a whole, that that's what our consumers

         22  want. We want to be able to get people, not on long

         23  lines, on fast-moving lines.

         24                 And then, finally, there is, as I

         25  said, the slippery slope. How do you justify, all
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          2  right, we're going to regulate sales of DXM, and now

          3  someone comes with the next lawful product that

          4  teenagers can abuse, now we're on this one, now

          5  we're on that one, and now we're on that one. And

          6  that's really our point.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: Well,

          8  thank you so much, Ms. Fellows, and Mr. Mandelker,

          9  and Attorney Kraushaar, and Ms. Brodhagen for

         10  staying so late. And I apologize that it took so

         11  long, but we did get started late because of prior

         12  hearings that we all had to attend. Thank you so

         13  much.

         14                 MR. KRAUSHAAR: Thank you.

         15                 MR. MANDELKER: Thank you.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON DICKENS: This

         17  hearing is hereby adjourned.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 5:03 p.m.)
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